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As we enter a new phase for the Company, I wish to truly thank our clients, employees, advisors,
Board of Directors and service providers for their ongoing support of NXT.
The coming days and months will be very exciting times for our Company as we work towards
new contract opportunities. As recently announced, NXT has signed an US$8.9 million dollar SFD®
Survey and is making progress on several other fronts.
During 2018, we worked diligently to build a new foundation for NXT through a new financing and
further technology developments. This new foundation has successfully led to our Nigerian SFD®
Survey, which we signed in March 2019. On the financing front, we completed the private
placement with Alberta Green Ventures (“AGV”) for $9.5 million Canadian dollars in July 2018.
Secondly, regarding technology, NXT received a second patent in the United States for the new
SFD® sensor design we term the “Cascade” configuration. The Company’s Cascade sensors will
provide enhanced ability for identifying trapped fluid bodies indicative of potential hydrocarbon
accumulations along with improved reliability and flexibility during SFD® survey operations. On
April 13, 2018 we also received a SFD® patent for China. We now have a total of 7 patents around
the world. In addition, we believe that the European Patent, encompassing 38 European
countries will be allowed in the next couple of months.
In business development progress, in October we signed an MOU with BGP Inc., a subsidiary of
China National Petroleum Corporation, to further explore opportunities for NXT and BGP Inc. to
work together. NXT’s forward strategy is to secure SFD® contracts with BGP and its affiliates
utilizing the following corporate structures:
a. BGP Inc., China National Petroleum Corporation or Affiliates hires NXT for a service fee;
b. BGP-NXT jointly bid and provide services to clients;
c. Using an SPV, BGP-NXT conduct multi-client surveys for clients; and
d. Using an SPV, BGP Affiliates and NXT create a vertical entity to drill and develop
prospects based on seismic/SFD®.
Our goals in Malaysia have not changed. We are in continued discussions with Petronas regarding
Gulf of Mexico data sales and other potential SFD® projects with two state oil companies in the
country. With respect to the Aceh project, Generation Resource Discoveries (“GRD”) which is
NXT’s regional representative, is arranging third party funding. However, at present, the MOU
entered into between GRD and the Government of Aceh, Indonesia on February 22, 2018, GRD
has expired.
As a result of recent political turmoil in the government of Sri Lanka, our contract negotiations
have been put on hold. We continue to assess the situation as to when they can be renewed. We
are hopeful that this political crisis will pass soon.
Latin America remains to be a very important market segment for NXT. We are working with AVG
to re-establish our presence in Mexico. We are also actively seeking new SFD® projects in
Colombia, Peru and Brazil.

Page | 2

Africa is one of the last major frontiers in oil and gas exploration. The opportunities are
staggering. Ghana, Zambia, Mozambique and Senegal, like Nigeria, are seeking to improve the
effectiveness of their onshore exploration activity. The Nigerian SFD® survey will provide the
Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation with information on potential oil and gas traps that will
open up new areas for oil and gas exploration and provide increased foreign investment. We are
also currently working with other companies in the region to become an integral part of their
future on-shore and off-shore exploration programs. My team and I will be traveling extensively
once the Nigerian survey has begun to further develop our business prospects in Africa. As Nigeria
is a new jurisdiction for us, we conducted significant due diligence to ensure we understand the
business environment with special attention to compliance with NXT’s Anti-Bribery and AntiCorruption Policy. I want to thank our advisors, especially Norton Rose Fulbright, Kreller Group
and our Board of Directors for providing guidance to ensure the integrity of these contracts.
In other developments, we announced in February that NXT has entered into a Co-operative
Agreement with AGV, to propose up to three SFD® surveys within two years. This agreement will
allow NXT to begin to build its vertical strategy in Canada, the USA and internationally.
Furthermore, NXT shares in the success of SFD® recommendations as the Co-operative
Agreement is based on a cost plus formula and a gross overriding royalty interest in oil and gas
production arising on lands subject to the surveys. The first project must be completed by August
31, 2019.
Also, AGV and NXT have entered into a three year exclusive sales representative agreement in
nine jurisdictions in the Middle East, Africa and Latin America. AGV, through its affiliates, has
extensive experience in these regions and is optimistic about SFD® Survey prospects.
I want to thank AGV for its continued strategic partnership with NXT. Together we are able to
expand the reach of SFD®.
In conclusion, I am extremely pleased to be able to write to you about the start of a new contract.
This Nigerian SFD® contract is the result of many months of hard work between NXT’s employees
and partners. NXT continues to pursue a number of other strategic contract opportunities and I
am confident that our continued efforts will materialize into sustainable growth.
On behalf of our Board of Directors and the entire team at NXT, I want to thank all of our
shareholders for their continued support. The Company’s strategy is beginning to deliver results
on several fronts and NXT is well positioned for an exciting year of growth in 2019 and beyond.
Thank you all again for your ongoing support of the NXT.

Best regards,

George Liszicasz
President & CEO
NXT Energy Solutions Inc.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis
The following management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A") was prepared by management based on
information available as at April 1, 2019 unless otherwise stated, has been approved by the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”), and should be reviewed in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2018. This MD&A
covers the unaudited three months ("Q4-18") and the twelve months year-to-date ended December 31,
2018 ("2018 YTD") periods, with comparative totals for the three months ("Q4-17") and the twelve
months year-to-date ended December 31, 2017 ("2017 YTD").
As used in this MD&A, the terms "we", "us", "our", "NXT" and the "Company" mean NXT Energy Solutions
Inc.
Our functional and reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. All references to "dollars" or “$” in this
MD&A refers to Canadian or CDN dollars ("CDN$") unless specific reference is made to United States or
US dollars ("US$").
NXT and Stress Field Detector ("SFD®") in Canada and the United States are the registered trademarks of
NXT.

Forward-looking Information
Certain statements in this MD&A constitute forward-looking information under applicable securities laws.
These statements typically contain words such as "intends", "plans", "anticipates", "expects",
"scheduled", “estimates”, “believes”, “forecasts” or other variations, (including negative variations) of
such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might”
or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved and relate primarily to:










the continued use of proceeds from the Private Placement (as defined below);
the timing and extent of potential future growth opportunities in new international markets
including the potential securing of SFD® contracts, new business ventures, and the satisfaction by
third-parties of certain necessary conditions related thereto including obtaining financing and
government and regulatory approvals;
the ability to successfully complete the SFD® data acquisition on the terms of contracts;
completion SFD® recommendations within the contract parameters;
ensuring collections of all contract revenue in accordance with the terms of the contract;
estimates related to our future financial position and liquidity;
estimated minimum annual commitments for our leased premises and equipment; and
general business strategies and objectives.

This forward-looking information is based on a number of assumptions which may prove to be incorrect.
Assumptions have been made with respect to the following matters, in addition to any other assumptions
identified in this document:




our ability to source personnel and equipment in a timely manner and at an acceptable cost;
our ability to obtain all permits and approvals required;
general business, economic and market conditions (including global commodity prices);
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the ability to obtain insurance to mitigate the risk of default on client billings; and
foreign currency exchange and interest rates.

These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and are subject to a wide range of
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, performance
or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Known risks include:











our ability to generate sufficient ongoing cash flow from operations or to raise adequate capital
to allow us to grow the business and continue operations;
conducting operations in international markets;
the emergence of alternative competitive technologies;
protection of our intellectual property and rights to our SFD® technology;
reliance on a limited number of aircraft;
the loss of key personnel;
our dependence on a limited number of clients;
foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations may affect our financial position;
changes in, or in the interpretation of, laws, regulations or policies; and
volatility in oil and natural gas commodity prices may reduce demand for our services.

Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors and risks that could cause actual
actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements,
there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results to differ from those anticipated, estimated
or intended.
See the section titled "Risk Factors" for more information relating to risks, and for more information about
industry factors affecting NXT’s performance and additional trends, demand, commitments, events or
uncertainties that are reasonably likely to have an effect on NXT’s businesses and future performance and
the financial statements in this MD&A and NXT's current Annual Information Form. Except as required by
law, NXT assumes no obligation to update forward-looking information should circumstances or the
Company's estimates or opinions change. Accordingly, the reader is cautioned not to place undue reliance
on forward-looking statements.

Non-GAAP Measures
NXT's accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP"). This MD&A includes
references to net working capital which does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by US GAAP
and may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities. Net working capital is the
net result of the difference of current assets less current liabilities. Management of NXT uses this nonGAAP measure to improve its ability to assess liquidity at a point in time.

Description of the Business
NXT utilizes its proprietary and patented SFD® survey method to provide airborne, gravity-based
geophysical surveys to companies involved in oil and gas exploration and production globally.
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The discussion in this MD&A focuses on the highlights of NXT's ongoing business development activities,
and any significant changes arising prior to the filing of our MD&A for the three and twelve month periods
ended December 31, 2018.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern
basis of presentation assumes that NXT will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.
The events described in the following paragraphs highlight that there is substantial doubt about NXT’s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these financial statements have
been issued.
As a result of the extended duration between revenue bearing contracts, NXT’s balance of working capital
has been declining since the closing of the first tranche of the Private Placement on February 2018. As a
result, the Company’s current and forecasted cash position is not expected to be sufficient to meet its
obligations for the 12-month period beyond the date that these financial statements have been issued.
While near term survey prospects are expected to translate into revenue bearing contacts and provide
positive contribution to the liquidity position, there are no certainties that several of these prospects will
convert into executed contracts prior to the full depletion of the Company’s cash resources. As discussed
below, in February 2019, the Company signed a Co-operation agreement for which it will receive a nonrefundable deposit of $200,000 United States Dollars in April 2019. In March 2019 NXT signed a SFD®
Survey contract for the approximate revenue value of $8,900,000 United States dollars. Advance
payments totaling $300,000 United States Dollars for mobilization and demobilization costs have been
received in March of 2019 and an additional $1,000,000 United States Dollars is to be received in April
2019 upon successful completion of a 100-line km pilot survey. The Company has also taken further steps
to reduce costs which include evaluating alternatives to reduce aircraft costs and office costs. In addition,
the Advisory Board has been suspended indefinitely and staffing costs are being reduced with new human
resource policies. If required, further financing options that may be available to the Company include
issuance of new equity, debentures or bank credit facilities. The need and availability of any of these
options will be dependent on the timing of securing further new contracts and obtaining financing terms
that are acceptable to both the Company and the financier.
NXT continues to develop its pipeline of opportunities to secure new revenue contracts. However, the
Company’s longer-term success remains dependent upon its ability to convert these opportunities into
successful contracts and to continue to attract new client projects and expand the revenue base to a level
sufficient to exceed fixed operating costs and generate positive cash flow from operations. The
occurrence and timing of these events cannot be predicted with certainty.
The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
concern basis was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these consolidated
financial statements, then significant adjustments would be necessary in the classification and carrying
value of assets, liabilities and the reported revenues and expenses.
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Financial and Operational Highlights
Key financial and operational highlights for 2018 include:
 Following the Company’s participation at the Upstream West Africa Summit in Senegal in Q2, NXT
management traveled twice to Africa to meet with representatives of the Nigerian National
Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC”) and the Ghana National Petroleum Corporation (“GNPC”) to
discuss the benefits SFD® would bring to their current exploration programs.
 Discussions with NNPC continued in the fourth quarter of 2018 and have resulted in the signing
of a contract in March 2019 with PE Energy Limited, a Nigerian oil and gas service company, for
the value of approximately $US8.9 million. Details of the contract are provided below.
 In February 2019, NXT entered into a Co-operative Agreement with Alberta Green Ventures
(“AGV”), for AGV to propose up to three SFD® Surveys within two years. The Co-operative
Agreement is based on a cost plus formula and a gross overriding royalty interest in oil and gas
production arising on lands subject to the surveys. AGV now holds approximately 20.0% of the
Company's 68,573,558 outstanding common shares including common shares issuable through
the exercise of its warrants.
 NXT has entered into a three year exclusive sales representative agreement with AGV, in nine
jurisdictions in the Middle East and Latin America. This includes an at-market subscription right
to purchase treasury shares of NXT in a dollar amount equal to 25% of the contracts introduced
by AGV to NXT in the first year of the Agreement, subject to approval from the TSX.
 NXT received notification of the granting of NXT's SFD® patent in China on April 13, 2018.
 In September, 2018, NXT received a United States patent for its new sensor design we term the
“Cascade” configuration.
o The Cascade sensor is the result of NXT’s continued research & development efforts and
builds upon our existing US patent. Management believes the Company’s Cascade
sensors will provide enhanced ability for identifying trapped fluid bodies indicative of
potential hydrocarbon accumulations along with improved reliability and flexibility during
SFD® survey operations.
 In October 2018, we signed an MOU with BGP Inc., a subsidiary of China National Petroleum
Corporation, to further explore opportunities for NXT and PGP Inc. to work together. NXT’s
forward strategy is to secure SFD® contracts with BGP and its affiliates.
 The MOU entered into between Generation Resource Discoveries (“GRD”), NXT’s regional
representative, and the Government of Aceh, Indonesia on February 22, 2018, GRD has expired.
 As mentioned in the third quarter, as a result of recent political changes in the government of Sri
Lanka, our contract negotiations have been put on hold. We will assess when discussions can be
renewed.
 NXT completed a private placement financing on July 3, 2018 of $9,484,810 through the issuance
of an aggregate of 10,264,946 units at $0.924 per unit (the "Private Placement"). Each unit
consists of one common share and one-third of one common share purchase warrant (each whole
warrant, a "Warrant"), and each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share at an
exercise price of $1.20 for twelve (12) months from closing of the first tranche of the Private
Placement on February 16, 2018. As the result of the Co-operation Agreement between AGV and
NXT, the Company has received conditional approval from the Toronto Stock Exchange to extend
the Warrants for 12 months until February 16, 2020, subject to disinterested shareholder
approval.
 No survey revenues were recorded in 2018.
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A net loss of $1.39 million was recorded for Q4-18, including amortization expense of $0.45 million
and stock-based compensation expense recovery in Q4 of $(0.17) million.
A net loss of $6.97 million was recorded for 2018 YTD, including amortization expense of $1.79
million and stock-based compensation expense of $0.39 million.
Operating activities used $1.16 million of cash during Q4-18 and net cash used for financing
activities was $0.01 million.
Losses per common share were $0.02 for Q4-18 and $0.11 for 2018 YTD (basic and diluted).
Operating activities used $6.04 million as at 2018 YTD and net cash from financing activities was
$9.18 million.
General and administrative costs for 2018 YTD as compared to 2017 YTD have been reduced by
$0.96 million or 19% mostly due to a reduction in headcount, public company costs and partially
offset by increased business development activity.
Cash and short-term investments at the end of the Q4-18 were $4.24 million.

Nigerian SFD® Survey
In March 2019, the Company has signed an $8.9 Million USD contract with PE Energy Limited (“PE”), a
Nigerian oil and gas service company that has a contract with NNPC (National Nigerian Petroleum
Company), to provide 5,000-line km of SFD® Surveys in Nigeria. Data acquisition operations for this
contract are expected to commence in early April 2019 and NXT’s interpretations and recommendations
are expected to be delivered during the third quarter of 2019.
The Company received a $300,000 USD mobilization fee in March 2019. A $1 Million USD pre-survey
payment must be paid to NXT in April 2019 after performing a 100-line km pilot survey. The pilot survey
must be completed to the satisfaction of NNPC to evaluate the response of the SFD® in the Nigerian
geological environment. Thereafter, payments will be made upon completion of each of three (3) project
milestones: (i) data acquisition (April/May 2019), (ii) interpretation and delivery of a report (June/July
2019) and (iii) upon satisfaction of all performance conditions under the contracts (August 2019). The
contracts have resulted from more than six months of negotiations and the exchange of substantial
technical information on the performance of the SFD®.
The Company conducted significant due diligence to ensure we understand the business environment and
including compliance with the Canadian Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act and all relevant related
foreign laws. The Company has engaged advisors such as Norton Rose Fulbright and Kreller Group to
provide guidance to ensure the integrity of these contracts.
As of April 1, 2019, the Company has begun to mobilize its aircraft and equipment to Nigeria, but has not
begun the SFD® Surveys or pilot survey.

Co-operation Agreement and Warrant Extension
In February 2019, NXT entered into a Co-operative Agreement with one of its largest shareholders, AGV,
to propose up to three SFD® surveys within two years. The Co-operative Agreement is based on a costplus formula and a gross overriding royalty interest in oil and gas production arising on lands subject to
the surveys.
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Under the Agreement, NXT and AGV will consider at least two SFD® Surveys in North America and an
additional one internationally. The first SFD® Survey is to be completed by August 31, 2019 and the fees
payable by AGV are partially secured by a $200,000 United States Dollars non-refundable deposit payable
within two months of signing the agreement. AGV has committed to completing an exploration drilling
program on each of the lands subject to the SFD® surveys within two years of completion of the surveys.
As part of the consideration for the agreement, NXT has agreed to seek approval for a 12-month extension
of the expiry date of certain common share purchase warrants held by AGV. The TSX has granted
conditional approval to the extension, subject to disinterested shareholder approval. NXT intends to table
a resolution for the approval of disinterested shareholders at the 2019 Annual Shareholder Meeting of
the NXT to ratify a twelve (12) month extension of AGV’s 3,421,648 warrants (“Warrants”) to February 16,
2020. If approved, each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of
$1.20 for an additional twelve months to February 16, 2020. The date of the Annual Shareholder Meeting
is to be set for a date in the second quarter of 2019. Until the extension is approved by shareholders at
the meeting, the warrants will not be exercisable by AGV. If the extension is not approved, then the
warrants will terminate. If the Warrants are exercised they will contribute approximately $4,100,000 in
cash flow to NXT.

Sales Representative Agreement and Contingent Private Placement
NXT has entered into a three-year exclusive sales representative agreement with AGV, in nine jurisdictions
in the Middle East and Latin America. Contingent on achieving a $2,000,000 US$ sales quota in the first
year of the sales representative agreement term, AGV will be granted an at-market subscription right to
purchase treasury shares of NXT in a dollar amount equal to 25% of the contracts introduced by AGV to
NXT in the first year of the Agreement, up to a maximum of $5,000,000 US$. If this condition is met, NXT
will seek approval from the TSX and any required shareholder approvals.

Private Placement
In July 2018, the Company completed the Private Placement. In total, AGV purchased 10,264,946 Units at
a price of $0.924 per Unit for total gross proceeds of approximately $9,484,810.
As a result of the Private Placement, a total of 10,264,946 common shares and a total of 3,421,648
warrants were issued to the AGV. The allocation of gross proceeds was $8,766,039 to the common shares
and $718,771 to the share purchase warrants, less share issuance costs of $407,429. The fair value of the
warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) dividend
yield of 0%, (ii) estimated volatility of 65%, (iii) risk-free interest rate of 1.68% based on the Canada 1-Year
Treasury Bill Yield and (iv) and expected life of 1 year. As of the date of this MD&A the Company has
received conditional approval from the TSX to extend the warrants to February 16, 2020, subject to
disinterested shareholder approval. As previously discussed as part of the Co-operation Agreement, NXT
has agreed to seek approval to a 12-month extension of the expiry date of the common share purchase
warrants held by AGV.
AGV now holds approximately 20.0% of the Company's 68,573,558 outstanding common shares including
common shares issuable through the exercise of its warrants.
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A finder’s fee of 3% of the total amount of the Private Placement was paid one half in shares and one half
in cash was paid during the third quarter.
In connection with the closing on the final amount of the Private Placement, the Company and AGV
entered into an Investor Rights Agreement pursuant to which: (a) AGV has the right to nominate one
director for election to the Board (subject to AGV maintaining an equity ownership of at least 10% in the
Company); (b) AGV is entitled to participate in future equity or convertible security offerings of the
Company in order to maintain its pro rata equity interest in the Company (subject to AGV maintaining an
equity ownership of at least 10% in the Company); (c) AGV is entitled to a similar equity offering
participation right in connection with certain new entities that may be created by the Company to expand
the application of its proprietary technologies; and (d) AGV has agreed to a 18 month standstill from July
3, 2018 and a 12 month restriction on dispositions of 75% of the securities acquired in the Private
Placement.
In Q4-18, there was no change in the intended use of proceeds from this Private Placement. Proceeds
will continue to be critical in providing NXT with the capital necessary to finance the Nigerian project in
the second quarter of 2019 and finalize other SFD® contract negotiations for the deployment of our SFD®
technology.

Summary of Quarterly Results
A summary of operating results for each of the trailing eight quarters (including a comparison of certain
key categories to each respective prior quarter) follows.

Q4-18
Dec 31

Q3-18
Sept 30

Survey revenue
Net loss

$

(1,392,716)

Loss per share - basic
Loss per share - diluted

$
$

(0.02)
(0.02)

Survey revenue
Net loss

Q4-17
Dec 31
$
- $
(2,096,360)

Loss per share - basic
Loss per share - diluted

$
$
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(0.04)
(0.04)

$

$
$

$
$

Q2-18
June 30

Q1-18
Mar 31

- $
- $
(1,660,031)
(1,961,114) (1,954,650)
(0.02)
(0.02)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

Q3-17
Q2-17
Q1-17
Sept 30
June 30
Mar 31
- $
- $
(1,935,356) (2,723,956) (2,214,716)
(0.04)
(0.04)

$
$

(0.05)
(0.05)

$
$

(0.04)
(0.04)
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Significant or Unusual Items Impacting Net Loss:
There have been no revenues in the last eight quarters. The extent of the net loss in each quarter is mainly
due to survey costs (related to aircraft lease and aircraft maintenance costs), G&A costs, and non-cash
items like stock-based compensation expense ("SBCE"). All of these costs can be a significant expense in
any given quarter. In addition, net loss was affected by the following:








In Q4-18, SBCE was lower by $283,811 as unvested options were forfeited. In addition, G&A costs
decreased $156,271 for two reasons. Firstly, business development decreased as most of the
business development work was centred in Calgary supporting Nigerian SFD® survey
negotiations. Secondly, there was a decrease in public company costs as the previous quarter
had significant costs related to the Private Placement. Offsetting this was an increase of $44,010
in survey expenses as NXT’s aircraft incurred a scheduled major maintenance in December 2018.
In Q3-18, a gain of $185,661 has been recognized on the extinguishment of a liability that was
recorded before 2005 which is no longer payable. Also, interest income of $26,171 was earned
on cash received from the Private Placement.
In Q1-18, G&A costs were lower as NXT began to recognize the full extent of cost reductions
started in the prior quarter.
In Q4-17, G&A costs were higher due to severance and other costs incurred to implement cost
reduction plans.
In Q2-17, all costs related to an SFD® multi-client survey conducted in the Gulf of Mexico were
expensed.
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Summary of Operating Results
Q4-18

-

2018 YTD
$
-

2017 YTD
$
-

315,175
875,705
(173,367)
447,942
1,465,455

252,212
1,248,181
84,351
454,163
2,038,907

1,103,946
3,999,089
386,154
1,790,267
7,279,456

1,289,429
4,960,961
581,356
1,897,576
8,729,322

(21,626)

(440)

(62,004)

4,485

(20,330)
(30,783)
(72,739)
(1,392,716)

42,888
12,047
54,495
(2,093,402)

(19,852)
(229,089)
(310,945)
(6,968,511)

69,676
91,370
165,531
(8,894,853)

-

2,958

-

75,545

Net Income (loss) for the period

$ (1,392,716)

$ (2,096,360)

(6,968,511)

(8,970,398)

Net Income (loss) per share - basic
Net Income (loss) per share - diluted

$
$

$
$

$
$

Survey revenue
Expenses:
Survey costs
General and administrative
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of property & equipment

$

Other Expenses (income):
Interest Expense (income), net
Foreign exchange (gain) loss
Other expense (recovery)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense :

Q4-17
-

(0.02)
(0.02)

$

(0.04)
(0.04)

(0.11)
(0.11)

$
$

(0.16)
(0.16)

Net loss for Q4-18 compared to Q4-17 decreased by $700,686 (33%) or $0.02 per share. Headcount
reductions decreased G&A by $166,025 along with no financing activity in Q4-18 reducing professional
fees a further $155,923. SBCE decreased $257,718 as unvested options were forfeited in Q4-18. A foreign
exchange gain was recorded in Q4-18 as a result of US$ currency exchange strength compared to the US$
CAD$. NXT has a $300,000 US$ deposit on its aircraft lease which is the source of most of the currency
exchange gain. Interest income was significantly higher in Q4-18 as excess cash was invested in shortterm investments. Finally, costs for several asset retirement obligations related to minor non-operated
interests in oil and natural gas wells in which NXT has outstanding abandonment and reclamation
obligations in accordance with government regulations were significantly reduced in the quarter.
Net loss for 2018 YTD compared to 2017 YTD decreased by $2,001,887 (22%) or $0.05 per share. This was
the result of headcount reductions and other cost savings reducing G&A by $961,872. Also, the Q2-17
Gulf of Mexico survey which was fully expensed in YTD-2017. YTD-2018 recorded interest income on
short-term investments and the extinguishment of the liability recorded in 2005 that was determined to
be no longer payable resulted in a gain of $185,661. There were no revenues in any of the periods.
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Summary of Survey Expenses

Aircraft lease costs
Amortization of deferred gain
Aircraft operations
Survey projects
Total Survey Expenses, net

Q4-18
$ 154,397
(38,826)
199,342
262
315,175

Q4-17
$ 148,097
(38,825)
142,608
332
252,212

$

2018 YTD
610,029
(155,301)
648,783
435
1,103,946

2017 YTD
$ 407,944
(103,534)
613,450
371,569
1,289,429

During Q4-18, survey expenses related entirely to the aircraft lease and maintenance costs, net of charter
hire revenue as there were no SFD® surveys conducted. Aircraft operation costs were higher than Q4-17
as a Phase 5 major maintenance was performed in the quarter. Aircraft lease costs were higher in Q4-18
due to the weaker CAD$ versus Q4-17. Lease payments are made in US$.
During Q2-17, the Company entered into a sale and leaseback transaction of its aircraft (the "Leaseback
Transaction"). Accordingly, subsequent to entering into the Leaseback Transaction in April 2017, there
were no lease costs, but amortization expenses were higher as NXT owned the aircraft until April 2017.
In addition, an amortized deferred gain on sale that was realized upon completion of the Leaseback
Transaction has been recorded since April 2017.
In comparing 2018 YTD with 2017 YTD, costs for aircraft operations are higher because of the Phase 5
major maintenance performed on the aircraft. This was offset by increased charter hours for all of 2018
YTD which offset operating costs. Aircraft lease costs in 2018 YTD are $202,085 higher than 2017 YTD as
the lease payments started in May 2017, which resulted in 4 months less of lease costs in 2017.
Correspondingly, amortization costs are lower in 2018 YTD. During Q2-17, NXT completed its first ever
SFD® multi-client survey in the Gulf of Mexico. There have been no sales for the SFD® data recorded and
therefore the direct costs of the survey were expensed during that quarter. Survey costs only represent
the direct costs that were incurred during operations of this survey and exclude any indirect costs
associated with the use of the technology.
The aircraft is available for charter to third parties through our aircraft manager when it is not being used
by NXT. Any charter fees received are used to offset aircraft costs.
General and administrative expense – all salaries and overhead costs related to SFD® data interpretation
staff are included in G&A and not included with direct survey expenses. The categories of costs included
in G&A are as follows:

G&A Expenses
Salaries, benefits and consulting charges

Q4-18
$ 510,491

Q4-17
$ 676,516

net change
$ (166,025)

%
(25%)

Board, professional fees, & public company costs

139,039

254,962

(115,923)

(45%)

Premises and administrative overhead

191,277

192,664

(1,387)

(1%)

Business development

38,463

89,466

(51,003)

(57%)

Bolivian overhead

(3,565)

34,573

(38,138)

(110%)

875,705

1,248,181

(372,476)

(30%)

Total G&A Expenses
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G&A Expenses
Salaries, benefits and consulting charges
Board, professional fees, & public
company costs
Premises and administrative overhead
Business development
Bolivian overhead
Total G&A Expenses

2018 YTD
2017 YTD
$ 2,046,886 $2,709,194

net change
$ (662,308)

%
(24%)

781,330
753,380

909,729
842,994

(128,399)
(89,614)

(14%)
(11%)

382,146

257,465

124,681

48%

35,347
3,999,089

241,579
4,960,961

(206,232)
(961,872)

(85%)
(19%)

G&A Expenses decreased 30% or $372,106 in Q4-18 compared to Q4-17 as the result of the Company’s
cost reduction efforts and refocusing of business development.






The main reason that salaries, benefits and consulting charges were lower in Q4-18 when
compared to Q4-17 is due to a reduction in corporate headcount. Also, severance costs directly
related to the headcount reduction were incurred in Q4-17.
Board, professional fees & public company costs, were 45% lower in Q4-18 compared to Q4-17 as
the Company incurred costs indirectly related to rights offering in Q4-17. (“Rights Offering”)
Premises and administrative overhead were flat in Q4-18 compared to the same period the prior
year as most of these costs are fixed and long term in nature.
Business development costs decreased by $51,003. In Q4-17, the Company incurred significant
conference costs while in Q4-18 most of the business development activity was centred in the
Calgary office as resources concentrated on the Nigerian SFD® survey negotiations.
The Bolivian operations and office were closed in 2017, however the branch set up for tax and
reporting purposes to satisfy Bolivian government requirements remains in a dormant status but
is being formally closed. This should be completed in the second quarter of 2019. Final cost
estimates to close the branch were obtained in Q4-18 and resulted in a credit of $3,565 versus
previous quarter estimates. As the operations and office in Bolivia ceased in 2017, there is no
effect on the financial results of the Company other than the closing costs.

G&A expenses decreased by 19% or $961,872 in 2018 YTD compared to 2017 YTD.





The main reason for salaries, benefits and consulting charges being lower in 2018 YTD than 2017
YTD is due to a reduction in corporate headcount. In addition, focus was put on reducing vacation
liabilities.
Board, professional fees and public company costs, were 14% lower in 2018 YTD compared to
2017 YTD as the Advisory Board was indefinitely suspended and there was one less Director on
the Board of Directors. Also, professional fees were higher in 2017 YTD as there were two
significant transactions, the Rights Offering and the Sale Leaseback transaction which required
significant legal assistance. In 2018 YTD, the significant transaction was the Private Placement.
Premises and administrative overhead was 11% lower in 2018 YTD compared to the prior year,
mostly due to lower property taxes and lower maintenance costs early in the year. In addition,
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there was significant cost reduction efforts in office overhead costs like supplies and
subscriptions.
Business development costs increased $124,681 as the Company increased marketing efforts for
the SFD® technology during 2018.
2018 YTD Bolivian overhead costs of $35,347 are related to closing of the branch.

Stock-based compensation – this expense varies in any given quarter or year as it is a function of several
factors including the number of stock options issued in the period and the period of amortization (based
on the term of the contract and/or number of years for full vesting of the options, which is normally three
years) of the resultant expense. Also, SBCE is a function of periodic changes in the inputs used in the
Black-Scholes option valuation model, such as volatility in NXT's trailing share price.
SBCE in Q4-18 was lower compared to Q4-17 by $257,718. The expense was lower as significant unvested
options were forfeited and almost all remaining options were fully vested earlier in 2018 YTD.
SBCE in 2018 YTD was lower compared to 2017 YTD by $195,202. The expense was lower as all options
granted before 2018 fully vested earlier in the year. No options were granted in 2017.

Other (Income)/Expenses
Interest (income) expense, net
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)
loss
Intellectual property, R&D and ARO
Gain on extinguishment of liability
Other, net
Total Other Expenses, net

$

Q4-18
(21,626)

Q4-17
$ (440)

2018 YTD
$ (62,004)

2017 YTD
$ 4,485

(20,330)

42,888

(19,852)

69,676

(33,510)
2,727
(72,739)

13,661
(1,615)
54,494

(43,428)
(188,388)
2,727
(310,945)

86,604
4,765
165,530

Interest (income) expense, net – includes interest income earned on short-term investments netted by
interest expense from capital lease obligations. Net interest income for Q4-18 was $21,626 as compared
to net interest expense of $404 for Q4-17. For 2018 YTD net interest income was $62,004 and for 2017
YTD net interest expense was $4,485. Proceeds from the Private Placement were placed in short-term
investments when they were received and therefore interest income increased versus the prior periods.
Short-term investments were minimal in Q4-17 and 2017 YTD.
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss – this total is caused by changes in the relative exchange values of
the US$ and CDN$. For example, when the CDN$ trades higher relative to the US$, cash held in US$ and
monetary assets denominated in US$ will decline in value. This decline will be reflected as a foreign
exchange loss in the period. NXT normally holds its cash and short-term investments in CDN$ to reduce
the effect of market volatility. The security deposit for the aircraft is held in US$, which has a significant
effect on the unrealized foreign exchange gain and loss each quarter.
The foreign exchange gain for the quarter was primarily caused by the translation of assets and liabilities
in the Canadian Company which were held in US$.
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Intellectual property, R&D and ARO – this category includes primarily costs related to intellectual property
("IP") filings and R&D activity related to the SFD® technology and costs for certain non-recurring, "project"
activities.
For 2018 YTD, the Company's Intellectual property and R&D expenses were negative as it incurred less
costs from a provider of services than originally estimated. The Company also updated estimates for
several asset retirement obligations related to minor non-operated interests in oil and natural gas wells
in which NXT has outstanding abandonment and reclamation obligations in accordance with government
regulations were significantly reduced in Q4-18.
Gain on Extinguishment of Liability - In 2018 YTD, the Company determined that liabilities it had recorded
before 2005 were no longer payable. As a result, a gain of $185,661 was recorded in other income on the
extinguishment of the liability. No cash was paid to settle the liability. For 2017 YTD, other expenses
consisted primarily of costs incurred to secure a patent for SFD® in the United States and to continue to
develop SFD® technology.
Amortization Expenses
Property and equipment
Intellectual property
Total Amortization Expenses

Q4-18
$ 26,759
421,183

Q4-17
$ 32,980
421,183

2018 YTD
$ 105,534
1,684,733

2017 YTD
$ 212,843
1,684,733

447,942

454,163

1,790,267

1,897,576

Total amortization expense – NXT finalized its acquisition of specific rights to utilize the proprietary SFD®
technology from its inventor, NXT's President & CEO, on August 31, 2015. As a result of this acquisition,
NXT obtained the exclusive right to utilize the SFD® intellectual property in global hydrocarbon exploration
applications.
The value attributed to the IP assets acquired in 2015 was $25.3 million. The IP assets are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over a 15-year period (future amortization expense of $1,685,000 per year) and
will also be subject to ongoing tests of potential impairment of the recorded net book value. No
impairments were recognized during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Property and equipment amortization is lower for the year ended December 31, 2018 versus the same
period in the prior year due to the Leaseback Transaction as the Company no longer owns the aircraft.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense

Q4-18
-

Q4-17
2,958

2018 YTD
-

2017 YTD
75,454

Income tax expense – NXT periodically earns revenues while operating outside of Canada as a non-resident
within certain foreign jurisdictions, and services rendered to clients in such countries may be subject to
foreign withholding taxes, which are only recoverable in certain limited circumstances. Income tax
expense for 2017 is a result of withholding taxes that were incurred on charges related to the Bolivia
survey project. There was no income tax expense in Canada or Bolivia during 2018.
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Competition
Our SFD® airborne survey service is based upon a proprietary technology, which is capable of remotely
identifying, from a survey aircraft, subsurface anomalies associated with potential hydrocarbon traps with
a resolution that we believe is technically superior to other airborne survey systems. To our knowledge
there is no other company employing technology comparable to our SFD® survey system for oil and
natural gas exploration.
Seismic is the standard technology used by the oil & gas industry to image subsurface structures. It is our
view that the SFD® survey system is highly complementary to seismic analysis. Our system may reduce
the need for seismic in wide-area reconnaissance but will not replace the role of seismic in verifying
structure, closure and selecting drilling locations. The seismic industry is very competitive with many
international and regional service providers.
The SFD® system can be used as a focusing tool for seismic. With an SFD® survey a large tract (i.e. over
5,000 square kilometers) of land can be evaluated quickly to identify locations with indications of reservoir
potential. Seismic surveys, although effective in identifying these locations, are much more expensive,
require significantly more time and impose a much greater negative impact on local communities and the
environment. An SFD® survey deployed first can provide necessary information to target a seismic
program over a limited area of locations selected by SFD®. This approach can result in a more effective
seismic program and reduce the overall cost, time, community resistance and environmental impact
required to locate and qualify a prospect.
The industry uses other technologies for wide area oil and natural gas reconnaissance exploration, such
as aeromagnetic and gravity surveys. These systems can provide regional geological information, such as
basement depth, sedimentary thickness and major faulting and structural development; however, these
other airborne techniques are not as suitable for identifying areas with reservoir potential as the SFD®
system.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
NXT's cash and cash equivalents plus short-term investments at December 31, 2018 was $4,239,532.
In order for NXT to continue to operate on a going concern basis, NXT must generate sufficient cash from
successfully signing contracts and receiving advance payments. NXT's longer-term success remains
dependent upon our ability to continue to attract new client projects and expand the revenue base to a
level sufficient to exceed G&A expenses and generate excess net cash flow from operations. Proceeds
from past equity financings have been and the proceeds from the Private Placement are expected to be
used to provide NXT with funds to pursue, close and implement commercial transactions currently in
negotiation, develop additional revenue streams including multi-client data sales, strategic partnerships,
for general corporate and working capital purposes. Please also see Description of Business regarding the
Going Concern assumption over the next 12 months.
Risks related to having sufficient ongoing working capital to execute survey project contracts are mitigated
through our normal practice of obtaining progress payments from prospective clients throughout the
course of the projects, which often span three to four months. In addition, where possible, risk of default
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on client billings has been mitigated through the use of export insurance programs offered by Export
Development Canada.
During 2018, NXT continued to make progress in strengthening its liquidity and working capital position
through a series of corporate actions described below.
Reduction in corporate costs: Following the completion of the Leaseback Transaction, NXT took further
steps to reduce corporate costs. The most significant of these steps included a reduction in non-essential
staff and new Human Resource policies to reduce staffing costs. Please see the discussion under
"Summary of Operating Results – General and administrative expense" for the results of these reductions.
Private Placement: As discussed in the section Private Placement Closing, the Company closed the final
portion of the Private Placement on July 3, 2018.
Nigerian SFD® Survey: With the signing of the Nigerian project with PE Energy including the receipt of
$0.3 million US$ mobilization/demobilization fee, the expected receipt of the $1,000,000 advance
payment after the completion of the pilot survey, and maintaining current staffing and spending levels,
NXT estimates it will have sufficient funds to meet its ongoing obligations for a period of approximately 5
months from the date of this MD&A. If as expected NXT receives timely receipt of milestone payments
from the Nigerian SFD® survey, NXT estimates it will have sufficient funds to meet its ongoing obligations
for an additional 19 months. After this period NXT will require additional funds in order to continue to
seek revenue contracts, pay salaries, suppliers and to maintain its aircraft obligations.
NXT has no secured debt and had net working capital of $3,823,832 as at December 31, 2018, as follows:

Net Working Capital Summary
Current assets (current liabilities)
Cash, cash equivalents and Short-Term
Investments
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Current portion of capital lease obligation
Net Working Capital

Dec 31,
2018

Dec 31,
2017

net change as at
Q4-18

$ 4,239,532
61,279
65,159
(499,535)
(42,603)

$ 1,116,618
60,027
107,363
(1,562,394)
(201)
(39,579)

$ 3,122,914
1,252
(42,204)
1,062,859
201
(3,024)

3,823,832

(318,166)

4,141,998

The increase in working capital was due to the cash provided by the Private Placement, net of cash
operating costs during 2018. In addition, liabilities are lower as the Company paid outstanding liabilities
with funds received from the Private Placement.

The net decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is comprised of the following movements:
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Accounts Payable Summary
Trade accounts payable
Deferred gain on sale of aircraft
Deferred employee salaries
Deferred director /Advisory Board payable
Accrued liabilities
Vacation pay accrued

$

Total Accounts Payable

Dec 31,
2018
(138,509)
(155,301)
(48,079)
(110,375)
(47,271)

Dec 31,
2017
$ (430,100)
(155,301)
(380,548)
(213,181)
(212,701)
(170,563)

net change as
at Q4-18
$ 291,591
380,548
165,102
102,326
123,292

(499,535)

(1,562,394)

1,062,859

Trade accounts payable as at December 31, 2018 decreased by $291,591 compared to those outstanding
as at December 31, 2017 as several deferred payables were settled during Q2-18 and the Company kept
liabilities current during the year. Deferred employee salaries decreased to $nil as the salary deferral
program ended and employees were paid their outstanding deferred salaries. Deferred director and
Advisory Board fees decreased by $165,102 as most of these outstanding liabilities were paid or settled
upon termination of contracts during 2018. Board of Director fees have also been settled on time during
the last two quarters of 2018. As with other liabilities, accrued liabilities are lower by $102,326 as
outstanding accruals were settled during 2018. Vacation pay accrued decreased by $123,292 as
employees took significant vacation time and any remaining outstanding balances from prior years were
settled.
The overall net changes in cash balances in each of the periods noted above is a function of several factors
including any inflows (outflows) due to changes in net working capital balances and net of any cash
transferred into/out of short-term investments. Further information on the net changes in cash, by each
of the operating, financing, and investing activities, is as follows:
Q4-17

2018 YTD

2017 YTD

$(1,162,392)
(12,187)
1,100,000

$(514,183)
2,019,865
(1,408,765)

$ (6,043,919)
9,176,839
(2,960,006)

$(5,464,679)
2,022,944
3,117,858

(74,579)

96,916

172,914

(323,878)

Cash and cash equivalents, start of period

414,111

69,702

166,618

490,496

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

339,532

166,618

339,532

166,618

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments

339,532
3,900,000

166,618
950,000

339,532
3,900,000

166,618
950,000

Total Cash and Short-Term Investments

4,239,532

1,116,618

4,239,532

1,116,618

Cash Flow Summary - from / (used in)
Operating activities
Financing activities
Investing activities
Net source (use) of cash
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Operating Activities
Net income (loss) for the period
Total non-cash expense items
Change in non-cash working capital
balances
Total Cash from (used in) Operating
Activities

Q4-18
$(1,392,716)
184,362

Q4-17
$(2,096,360)
591,003

2018 YTD
$(6,968,511)
1,782,762

2017 YTD
$(8,970,398)
2,676,705

(1,208,354)

(1,505,357)

(5,185,749)

(6,293,693)

45,962

991,174

(858,170)

829,014

(1,162,392)

(514,183)

(6,043,919)

(5,464,679)

For all periods, changes in operating cash flow was driven by the lack of revenue and incurred operating
costs for the period. Operating cash outflow decreased by $648,209 when comparing Q4-18 versus Q417 as liabilities were being deferred during Q4-17. This was partially offset by lower costs in Q4-18. When
comparing 2018 YTD to 2017 YTD cost reduction and cash deferral efforts reduced the operating cash by
$1,107,944, but payments of deferred liabilities decreased non-cash working capital by $1,687,184
resulting in a total change of $579,240 (decrease) in operating cash flow.
Financing Activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net proceeds from Private
Placement/Rights Offering
Cost of Shares for Debt
Repayment of capital lease obligation
Total Cash from (used in) Financing
Activities

$

Q4-18
-

Q4-17
$5,575

2018 YTD
$ 5,067

2017 YTD
$ 35,994

(2,033)
(10,154)

2,029,867
(6,149)
(9,428)

9,211,351
(39,579)

2,029,867
(6,149)
(36,769)

(12,187)

2,019,865

9,176,839

2,022,943

NXT recorded a net cash financing outflow of $12,187 in Q4-18 on payment for its capital lease and a
$9,176,839 inflow during 2018 YTD as a result of proceeds received from the closing of tranches in the
Private Placement. The 2017 inflows were from the Rights Offering in Q4-17.
Investing Activities
Sale/(purchase) of property and equipment
Decrease (increase) in short-term
investments
(Increase) in deposits
Total Cash from (used in) Investing Activities

Q4-18
$
-

Q4-17
$
(1)

2018 YTD
$ (10,006)

2017 YTD
$3,133,532

1,100,000

(889,999)

(2,950,000)

503,091

-

(518,765)

-

(518,765)

1,100,000

(1,408,765)

(2,960,006)

3,117,858

Short-term investments in Q4-18 decreased by $1,100,000 to pay operating costs. 2018 YTD short-term
investments increased as a result of the Private Placement. In Q4-17, short-term investments increased
from funds received from the Rights Offering. 2017 YTD, short-term investments decreased to fund
operations. During Q2-17, funds were received from the Leaseback Transaction.
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Contractual Commitments
Aircraft and office premises lease
NXT has an operating lease commitment on its Calgary office space for a 10-year term at an estimated
minimum monthly lease payment of $48,243 (including operating costs), ending in September 2025.
The leaseback of NXT's aircraft is an operating lease with a minimum term of 60 months, ending in March
2022 and monthly lease payments of approximately US$39,500.
The estimated minimum annual commitments for these leases are as follows, as at December 31, 2018:
For the period ended December 31
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Office Premises
$
578,914
581,892
590,823
590,823
590,823

Thereafter, 2024 through 2025

$

Aircraft
646,631
646,631
646,631
161,657
-

2,933,275
1,033,941

2,101,550
-

3,967,216

2,101,550

Financial Instruments
The Company’s non-derivative financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and capital leases. The carrying
value of these financial instruments approximates their fair values due to their short terms to maturity.
NXT is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments, though
NXT will not be able to meet its obligations for its capital and operating leases if contract payments are
not received as expected. NXT is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of periodically holding
foreign denominated financial instruments. Any unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses arising on
such holdings are reflected in earnings at the end of each period.
As at December 31, 2018, the Company held no derivate financial instruments.
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Additional Disclosures – Outstanding Share Capital and Dilutive Securities

Common shares issued and outstanding:
Common shares
Common shares issuable upon exercise:
Warrants
Stock options
Total Share Capital and Dilutive Securities

April 1,
2019

December 31,
2018

As at
December
31, 2017

68,573,558

68,573,558

58,161,133

3,421,646
1,272,000
73,267,204

3,421,646
1,297,000
73,292,204

1,648,667
59,809,800

NXT has agreed to seek approval to a 12-month extension of the expiry date of certain common share
purchase warrants held by AGV. The TSX has granted conditional approval to the extension, subject to
disinterested shareholder approval. NXT intends to table a resolution for the approval of disinterested
shareholders at the 2019 Annual Shareholder Meeting of the NXT to ratify a twelve (12) month extension
of AGV’s 3,421,648 warrants (“Warrants”) to February 16, 2020. If approved each Warrant entitles the
holder to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of $1.20 for an additional twelve months to
February 16, 2020. The date of the Annual Shareholder Meeting is to be set for a date in the second
quarter of 2019. Until the extension is approved by shareholders at the meeting, the warrants will not be
exercisable by AGV. If the extension is not approved, then the warrants will terminate.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements as of the date of this MD&A other than operating
leases as described in Contractual Commitments and Availability of Aircraft in the Risk Factors Section.
Other Transactions with Related Parties
One of the members of NXT's Board of Directors, Thomas Valentine is a partner in the law firm Norton
Rose Fulbright, which provides legal advice to NXT. Legal fees (including costs related to share issuance)
incurred with this firm were as follows:
For the three-month period
ended December 31

Legal Fees

2018
$ 7,796

2017
$ 88,936

For the twelve-month period
ended December 31

2018
$ 249,218

2017
$ 172,199

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities includes a total of $5,999 ($120,479 as at December 31, 2017)
payable to this law firm. Norton Rose Fulbright continues to provide legal services to NXT.
In addition, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $7,461 ($14,210 as at December 31, 2017)
related to re-imbursement of expenses owing to the CEO of NXT.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
The key elements and assumptions are substantially unchanged from those described in NXT's annual
audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year-ended December 31, 2018.
The following is also important to note:
Revenue recognition
Revenue earned on SFD® survey contracts (net of any related foreign sales taxes) is recognized over time
by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of its performance obligations to the customer.
This method of revenue recognition is currently deemed appropriate given the complex nature of the end
product that is delivered to the client. While the quantity of data acquisition can be measured based on
actual line kilometers flown, the acquired SFD® data does not realize its full value until it is processed,
interpreted in detail, and a recommendations report is generated and reviewed with the client's
geological and geophysical staff.
All funds received or invoiced in advance of completion of the contract are reflected as unearned revenue
and classified as a current liability on our balance sheet. All survey expenditures and obligations related
to uncompleted SFD® survey contracts (including directly-related sales commissions) are reflected as
work-in-progress and classified as a current asset on our balance sheet. Upon completion of the related
contract, unearned revenue and the work-in-progress is moved as appropriate to the statement of
earnings (loss) as either revenue or survey cost. Survey costs do not include any salaries and overhead
related to SFD® data interpretation staff (which is included in G&A expense) or amortization of property
and equipment expense.
Changes in Accounting Policies
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued new guidance on leases. The new guidance requires lessees
to recognize leases on the balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The
new standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset
and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases longer than 12 months. Leases will be
classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense
recognition in the income statement.
The Company will adopt the new standard when it becomes effective on January 1, 2019. NXT will apply
modified retrospective transition approach which it will apply to the new standard to all leases existing at
the date of initial application being January 1, 2019. Consequently, financial information for prior periods
will not be restated and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided for dates
and periods before January 1, 2019.
The Company will elect the package of practical expedients which permits entities not to reassess prior
conclusions about lease identification, lease classification, and initial direct costs under the rules of the
new standard.
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The most significant effects of adoption will relate to the recognition of the new ROU assets and lease
liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet for its operating leases and providing significant new
disclosures about the Company’s leasing activities. On adoption on January 1, 2019, the Company will
recognize ROU assets and related lease liability of approximately $3 million based on the present value of
the remaining minimum lease payments for existing operating leases.
Risk Factors
NXT is exposed to numerous business-related risks, some of which are unique to the nature of its
operations. Many of these risks cannot be readily controlled.
Future Operations
NXT is still in the early stages of realizing wide-spread commercialization of its SFD® technology. Its ability
to generate cash flow from operations will depend on its ability to service its existing clients and develop
new clients for its SFD® services. Management recognizes that the commercialization phase can last for
several years, and that it can have significant economic dependence on a small number of clients, which
can have a material effect on the Company's operating results and financial position.
NXT anticipates that it will be able to generate both net income and cash from operations in future years
based on its current business model however, this outcome cannot be predicted with certainty. The
Company has a history of generating net losses and periodic shortages of current assets less current
liabilities. The Company's consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to amounts
and classifications of assets and liabilities that might be necessary should NXT be unable to generate
sufficient revenues, net income and cash flow from operations in future years in order to continue as a
going concern.
Financial Statements
The preparation of financial statements requires our management to make estimates and assumptions.
These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities including the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as well as revenues and expenses recorded in our financial
statements. Estimates made relate primarily to the measurement of accrued liabilities, stock-based
compensation expense, valuation of future income tax assets, estimates for asset retirement obligations,
and the useful lives of capital assets and intellectual property.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and are based upon the best information
available to management; however, we cannot provide assurance that future events will not prove that
these estimates and assumptions are inaccurate. Any revisions to our estimates and assumptions may
have a material impact on our future reported net income or loss and assets and liabilities.
Commodity Prices
NXT's customer base is in the oil and natural gas exploration industry, which is exposed to risks of volatility
in oil and natural gas commodity prices. As such, demand for our services and prospective revenues may
become adversely impacted by ongoing declines in oil and natural gas prices. The impact of price changes
on our ability to enter into SFD® survey contracts cannot be readily determined. However, in general, if
commodity prices decline significantly, our opportunity to obtain and execute SFD® survey contracts will
also likely decline, at least in the short term.
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Foreign Currency Fluctuations
We currently conduct cash transactions and have holdings in Canadian dollars, U.S. dollars and periodically
have holdings of local currency in other countries. We generally contract to earn revenues in U.S. dollars
and potentially may earn revenues in Canadian dollars and other foreign currencies.
Our reporting currency is in Canadian dollars. We currently do not engage in currency hedging activities
but are reviewing opportunities to do so. Our cash positions and potential foreign currency revenue
streams in currencies other than Canadian dollars exposes us to exchange rate fluctuations between the
Canadian dollar and foreign currencies.
Our financial position will be affected by exchange rate fluctuations. We may earn revenue and incur
expenses denominated in foreign currencies yet report our financial results in Canadian dollars.
Furthermore, we intend to enter into contracts to provide services in foreign countries and may
periodically conduct business in other currencies such as the Euro. Changes in currency exchange rates
could have an adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results of operations.
Interest Rate Fluctuations
We periodically invest available cash in short term investments that generate interest income that will be
affected by any change in interest rates.
Availability of Aircraft
In April 2017, NXT completed a sale and leaseback agreement of its aircraft with a Calgary based
international aircraft services organization (the “Lessor”). The terms of the agreement resulted in NXT
selling its’ 1997 Cessna Citation Ultra 560 jet aircraft that was purchased in 2015. NXT has leased the
aircraft over an initial term of 60 months and retains all existing operating rights and obligations. NXT is
required to make monthly payments to the Lessor of approximately US$39,500. NXT has the option to
extend the term of the lease by an additional two years. Should NXT want to repurchase the aircraft at
the end of the initial lease term, the purchase price is US$1,450,000. When the aircraft is not needed for
use by NXT, we seek to earn charter hire revenues from the aircraft through a 3rd party, Air Partners.
Air Partners also has access to an alternate, similar model aircraft (certified for the use of our survey
equipment) which could be charter hired for use by NXT if needed.
In the event that NXT’s aircraft is not available (due to damage, a need for extensive repairs, or other
unforeseen events) to conduct survey projects, there is a risk that suitable alternative aircraft may not be
available on a timely basis from other charter operators when needed. This inability to conduct survey
operations could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Segregation of Duties
Certain duties that are most appropriately segregated between different employees are due to our
current limited staff, assigned to one or two individuals depending on the task.
Standard internal control methodology involves the separation of incompatible functions by assigning
these functions to separate individuals, and in larger organizations, to separate departments. We often
cannot allocate these functions to separate individuals because our administrative staff is limited.
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Although we have adopted alternative control methods designed to compensate for the reduced ability
to separate incompatible functions, these alternative controls are not effective and there is more than a
remote likelihood that our internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect material
misstatements if they should exist in our financial statements. This lack of separation of duties exposes
us to potential misappropriation of funds, embezzlement and other forms of fraud and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Related Party Transactions
We may periodically enter into related party transactions with our officers and directors. The most
significant transaction was a “Technology Transfer Agreement” (the “TTA”) that was executed on
December 31, 2006 between NXT and Mr. George Liszicasz, our CEO, President and Chairman wherein we
issued 10,000,000 convertible preferred shares to him in exchange for the rights to the SFD® technology
for use in hydrocarbon exploration. In 2013, a total of 2,000,000 of these preferred shares were converted
(on a one-to-one basis) into common shares, and the remaining 8,000,000 preferred shares were
converted in August 2015.
Although we manage this potential conflict of interest risk through maintenance of a strong independent
board of directors (the “Board”), all related party transactions have the potential for conflicts of interest
that may compromise the ability of Board members to exercise their fiduciary responsibility to NXT
shareholders.
For the period December 1, 2017 to January 31, 2018, Mr. Selby acted as the Interim CFO of the Company.
Conflicts of Interest
Mr. George Liszicasz, our CEO, is our largest shareholder, and as of April 1, 2019 owns approximately 23%
of our outstanding common shares and therefore has a substantial influence in all shareholder matters.
Controls do exist to mitigate any potential risks associated with this conflict of interest. Mr. Liszicasz
adheres to a code of conduct which includes a fiduciary responsibility to the Company and its
shareholders, and this conduct is governed by the independent Board of directors who collectively
represent a majority of the Board. Furthermore, all material related party transactions are disclosed
publicly.
However, should these conflict of interest controls not be effective, decisions could be made by the
Company that may advantage Mr. Liszicasz and negatively impact other shareholders.
Rights to SFD® Technology
Our rights to ownership and use of SFD® technology depended on Mr. Liszicasz having the lawful right to
sell to NXT the exclusive rights to exploit the SFD® technology for the exploration of hydrocarbons as
agreed to in the TTA.
A risk exists that an unknown party may claim some legal entitlement to our intellectual property, our
rights to commercialize this intellectual property or our right to create SFD® devices and processes.
However, we believe that such a claim would be without merit.
The SFD® technology is an essential component of our business plan. If a third party challenged our lawful
entitlement to this technology, the legal defense of our right to the technology may be expensive and could

NXT Energy Solutions Inc.
MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2018

page | 27

cause a loss of our right to the SFD® technology, or a protracted legal process to assert our right to the
technology would have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition and results
of operations.
Reliance on Specialized Equipment
We rely on specialized data acquisition equipment, including a limited number of SFD® sensor devices, to
conduct our aerial SFD® survey operations. We would be at risk if these survey sensors were to become
damaged, destroyed, worn out, stolen or in any way became unavailable for use in operations prior to us
creating and testing additional sensors. Should the sensors become unavailable for any reason, our ability
to conduct surveys could be delayed for several months as we built new sensors. During this period, we
may become unable to satisfy contractual obligations, which may jeopardize future revenue opportunities
and may potentially result in a client drawing on a contract performance bond posted by the Company or
otherwise making claims against the Company for breach of contract. In addition, an inability to satisfy
contractual obligations may have an adverse effect on our developing reputation within the oil and gas
community.
NXT seeks to mitigate this risk by researching new designs and constructing additional SFD® sensor
devices.
Geological Conditions
As the Company is in the early commercialization phase, SFD® surveys have not been tested over all
potential geological conditions. Some geological conditions may subsequently be proven to be unsuited
for SFD® surveys thereby creating unforeseen limitations to the application of SFD® surveys.
Any limitation to the application of SFD® surveys has the potential of restricting future revenue
opportunities and if not properly disclosed to industry clients, such limitations may impact the reputation
of the Company with these clients.

Technological Improvement
Unless we pursue ongoing technological improvement and development, we may be unable to respond
to changes in customer requirements or new competitive technologies.
We must continue to refine and develop our SFD® survey system to make it scalable for growth and to
respond to potential future competitive pressures. These improvements require substantial time and
resources. Furthermore, even if resources are available, there can be no assurance that the Company will
be commercially or technically successful in enhancing the technology. Our inability to keep pace with
new technologies and evolving industry standards and demands could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Reliance on Key Personnel
We rely on a limited number of key personnel who collectively possess the knowledge and skills to conduct
SFD® surveys and interpret SFD® data as required to meet contract obligations. Additional or replacement
personnel cannot be found and trained quickly. The loss of any of these key persons or increased demand
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for our services from clients could impair our ability to meet contract obligations, thereby adversely
impacting our reputation and our ability to earn future revenue from clients.
The Company's future success depends, to a significant extent, on the continued service of its key
technical and management personnel and on our ability to continue to attract and retain qualified
employees. The loss of the services of our employees or a failure to attract, retain and motivate qualified
personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. We do not have “key man” insurance on any of our personnel.
The Company put in place employment agreements with its chief executive officer, George Liszicasz.
We have a dependence on Mr. Liszicasz and three other staff members to be involved in the SFD® data
interpretation process and to continue to enhance our technology. We are working to minimize
dependency on key personnel. Mr. Liszicasz has trained and continues to train a team of signal
interpreters to minimize our reliance on him to perform these functions. Currently, a total of four persons,
two of which are highly experienced, are trained to interpret SFD® signals.
Although we have engaged employees with suitable credentials to work with Mr. Liszicasz to enhance our
interpretation process and further develop the SFD® technology, if we are unable to reduce dependence
on Mr. Liszicasz and he becomes incapable of performing or unwilling to perform these functions, then
there may be an adverse effect on our ability to interpret the data from SFD® surveys or to enhance our
technology.
Within the province of Alberta, the skilled personnel that we require may periodically be in short supply
and there is specialized training required that can take several months in order for a new employee to
become effective. If we cannot hire these key personnel, we have inadequate time to train them or should
we lose current personnel, then our ability to accept contracts or meet contract commitments may be
adversely affected, thereby restricting our ability to earn revenue.
Ability to Trade Shares
There is no certainty that an investor can trade our common shares on public markets at a stable market
price. The Company has historically had a limited public market for our common shares on the TSX Venture
Exchange (the “TSX-V”), and the United States (“U.S.”) OTC Markets Group’s Venture Stage Marketplace
(the “OTCQB”) and there is a risk that a broader or more active public trading market for our common
shares will not develop or be sustained, or that current trading levels will not be sustained. Effective
March 22, 2016, the Company’s application to graduate from the TSX-V to the broader Toronto Stock
Exchange (“TSX”), Canada’s premier stock exchange listing, was approved.
The market price for the common shares on the exchanges where our stock is listed has been, and we
anticipate will continue to be, extremely volatile and subject to significant price and volume fluctuations
in response to a variety of external and internal factors. This is especially true with respect to emerging
companies such as ours. Examples of external factors, which can generally be described as factors that
are unrelated to the operating performance or financial condition of any particular company, include
changes in interest rates and worldwide economic and market conditions, as well as changes in industry
conditions, such as changes in oil and natural gas prices, oil and natural gas inventory levels, regulatory
and environment rules, and announcements of technology innovations or new products by other
companies. Examples of internal factors, which can generally be described as factors that are directly
related to our consolidated financial condition or results of operations, would include release of reports
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by securities analysts and announcements we may make from time to time relative to our operating
performance, clients exploration results, financing, advances in technology or other business
developments.
Because we have a limited operating history and a limited history of profitability to date, the market price
for the common shares is more volatile than that of a seasoned issuer. Changes in the market price of the
common shares, for example, may have no connection with our operating results or the quality of services
provided to clients. No predictions or projections can be made as to what the prevailing market price for
the common shares will be at any time, or as to what effect, if any, that the sale of shares or the availability
of common shares for sale at any time will have on the prevailing market price. Given the relatively low
historic trading volumes, small trades of NXT’s common shares can adversely and potentially dramatically
affect the market prices for those shares.
Accordingly, investors in our common stock should anticipate both volatile stock price and poor liquidity
unless these conditions change.
Dividends
We have never paid any cash dividends on our common shares and we do not anticipate that we will pay
any dividends in the foreseeable future. Our current business plan is to retain any future earnings to
finance the expansion of our business. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the
discretion of our Board of directors and will be dependent upon our consolidated financial condition,
results of operations, capital requirements and other factors as our Board of directors may deem relevant
at that time.
Dilution
Our right to issue additional capital stock at any time could have an adverse effect on your proportionate
ownership and voting rights.
We are authorized under our Articles of Incorporation to issue an unlimited number of common shares
and an unlimited number of preferred shares. We may issue these shares under such circumstances and
in such manner and at such times, prices, amounts and purposes as our Board of Directors may, in its
discretion, determine to be necessary and appropriate, subject to compliance with all applicable exchange
regulations and corporate and securities laws. Proportionate ownership and voting rights of common
shareholders could be adversely affected by the issuance of additional common shares which may result
in common share value dilution.
Intellectual Property
We may not be able to protect our trade secrets and intellectual property from competitors who would
use this knowledge to eliminate or reduce our technological advantage.
Our success and future revenue growth will depend, in part, on our ability to protect our intellectual
property (“IP”). We have commenced an IP strategy process to obtain patents related to the SFD®
technology, while also utilizing “trade secrets” protection of the proprietary nature of our technology as
applicable.
Initiatives to expand and protect our IP (including patenting and new R&D initiatives) were very successful
in 2017. Squire Patton Boggs LLP, a United States (“US”) based leader in IP protection, has been advising
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NXT on our IP strategy, including the prior filing of an initial US provisional patent application in May 2012.
In November 2014, NXT filed a related patent amendment submission in the US and since that time has
undertaken new patent applications in select strategic international markets.
So far, SFD® patents have been granted in Russia (January 2017), Japan (July 2017), Canada (August 2017),
Europe (September 2017) and the United States (November 2017), and notices of allowance have been
also received from Mexico (July 2017) and China (March 2018), which are areas of prime commercial focus
for the Company. As of the writing of this financial report, NXT has been granted patents, filed or received
patent allowance for SFD® in different 48 countries. The SFD® patents serve an important purpose beyond
the protection they provide to the proprietary SFD® technology. Our patents also serve as an independent
third-party verification of the scientific principles that form the basis of the SFD® process and its
application.
The patent protection application process requires disclosure of at least some aspects of our SFD®
technology to third parties and ultimately public disclosure. This disclosure could significantly increase
the risk of unlawful use of our technology by third parties. Furthermore, we have no assurance that, even
if we seek patent protection, a patent could be registered to protect our IP in all or any jurisdictions within
North America or other countries throughout the world. If registered, there can be no assurance that it
would be sufficiently broad to protect our technology or that any potential patent would not be
challenged, invalidated or circumvented or that any right granted thereunder would provide meaningful
protection or a competitive advantage to us. Finally, protection afforded by patents is limited by the
financial resources available to legally defend IP rights. We currently do not possess the required financial
resources to fund a lengthy defense of our rights if challenged by a much larger competitor or an oil and
gas company.
We do enjoy common and contract law protection of our technology and trade secrets. Employees and
contractors are governed by confidentiality agreements as well as a fiduciary responsibility to protect our
technology, supporting documentation and other proprietary information.
Our strongest protection of the SFD® technology comes from restricting access to knowledge concerning
the technology. Only a very limited number of NXT personnel have access to or knowledge of the
underlying SFD® technology and no one employee and only one officer has access or knowledge of all
aspects of the SFD® system. Currently, no third party has any significant knowledge of the technology. As
further protection, SFD® equipment does not leave the direct control of NXT employees, thereby
preventing unauthorized replication of the equipment.
The Company reassesses the appropriateness of its IP protection strategy on an ongoing basis and seeks
advice from IP advisors as necessary.
It is possible that a third party will copy or otherwise obtain and use the Company's technology without
authorization, develop a similar technology independently or design around the Company's secrets.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Company to prevent misappropriation
or infringement of our IP will be successful.
An inability to protect our IP would make it possible for competitors to offer similar products and services
that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Flight Operations
We experience operational hazards in our flight operations that may subject us to potential claims in the
event that an incident or accident occurs.
The flight operations of SFD® surveys are subject to the hazards associated with general flight operations.
An aircraft accident may cause personal injury and loss of life, as well as severe damage to and destruction
of property or the SFD® sensors and related equipment.
Independent third parties provide all the services required to maintain and operate the aircraft; they bear
the primary risks of flight operations. These services are provided by an organization accredited by
Transport Canada to operate aircraft in accordance with Transport Canada approved and audited
operating procedures. The aircraft operator employs the required pilots, aircraft maintenance engineers
and support personnel and ensures that they operate within their Transport Canada operating certificate.
Our employees do not perform any airworthiness or flight safety operations.
We require the flight contractor to maintain appropriate insurance coverage for the risks associated with
aircraft operations, and we obtain insurance coverage to provide us with additional risk protection. In
addition, we maintain general business insurance coverage, and believe that this insurance and the policy
limits are appropriate for the operational risks that we incur.
Despite our policy to not operate the aircraft directly and our insurance coverage, we cannot avoid or
alternatively be insured for all risks of flight operations. In the event of an incident or accident we may
be sued by injured parties in excess of our policy limits or for damages that are not covered by our
insurance policy. The magnitude of a lawsuit of this nature is not determinable. Furthermore, to the
extent that our SFD® equipment is damaged, we may be unable to conduct SFD® surveys for several
months following an accident.
Foreign Countries
We conduct operations in foreign countries, which exposes us to several risks that may have a material
adverse effect on the Company.
Criminal Activity and Social Instability – We have operated in the past in foreign countries such as
Colombia, which over the past two decades experienced significant social upheaval and criminal activity
relating to drug trafficking, kidnapping and terrorist acts. While the situation has improved dramatically
in recent years, there can be no guarantee that the situation will not deteriorate again, nor are these risks
eliminated as yet. Furthermore, other potential international survey locations may have similar or other
indeterminate criminal or social instability risks.
Systemic criminal activity in a country or isolated criminal acts may disrupt operations, impact our ability
to earn revenue, dramatically add to our cost of operations or potentially prevent us from earning any
survey revenue in a country.
In addition, foreign markets may be susceptible to a higher risk of corruption and bribery. All of NXT’s
employees, contractors, and independent sales agents are required to adhere to the Company’s code of
conduct and business ethics, which prohibits illegal activities, including any acts of bribery or corruption.
Political Instability - Any changes in regulations or shifts in political attitudes are beyond the control of the
Company and may adversely affect our business. Exploration may be affected in varying degrees by
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government regulations which have the effect of restricting exploration and production activities. These
changes may adversely impact the laws and policies governing price controls, export controls, foreign
exchange controls, income taxes, expropriation of property, environmental legislation, site safety or other
areas.
Currently, there are no restrictions (other than the payment of local with-holding taxes) on the
repatriation back to Canada of our earnings in foreign countries in which we have operated, such as
Colombia and Bolivia; however, there can be no assurance that significant restrictions on repatriation to
Canada of earnings will not be imposed in the future.
Our operations may also be adversely affected by changes in laws and policies in Canada impacting foreign
travel and immigration, foreign trade, taxation and investment.
Commercial Disputes – While operating in a foreign country, we are subjected to local commercial laws
which often involve executing contracts in a foreign language. Although every effort is made to ensure
we have access to an accurate English translation, misunderstanding and potential disputes between
parties may arise.
In the event of a dispute arising in connection with our foreign operations for any reason, we may be
subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons
to the jurisdictions of the courts of Canada or enforcing Canadian judgments in such other jurisdictions.
We may also be hindered or prevented from enforcing our rights with respect to a government
instrumentality because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity.
Accordingly, these risk factors have the potential of adversely reducing the level of survey revenue from
our clients, our ability to operate effectively or our ability to be paid for our services and may have a
material adverse effect on our financial position.
Where possible, NXT utilizes risk mitigation products offered by entities such as Export Development
Canada (“EDC”). EDC financial products include insurance coverage of contract accounts receivable,
guarantee support for contract performance bonds, and wrongful call insurance for such bonds.
Flight Permits
We rely upon the right to conduct airborne surveys in foreign countries. These foreign operations expose
us to the risks that we will be prevented from conducting surveys when requested by clients.
The operation of our business, namely conducting aerial SFD® surveys and interpreting SFD® data, is not
subject to material governmental or environmental regulation in Canada and the United States with the
exception of flight rules issued by Transport Canada and the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”)
governing the use of commercial aircraft, including rules relating to low altitude flights. The requirements
in other countries vary greatly and may require permits and/or provide other restrictions to conducting
flight operations in the country that may restrict our ability to perform SFD® surveys.
For example, in South American countries in which we have operated, such as Colombia and Bolivia, SFD®
surveys must comply with additional requirements not encountered in Canada and the United States,
including customs obligations and bonds related to the importation and exportation of the aircraft into
the country, obtaining permits from the local aviation authority, and obtaining permits from the local Air
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Force. We have successfully operated in South America and other global regions in accordance with these
typical requirements.
With our North America and International experience to date, we do not anticipate any government
controls or regulations that will prevent timely completion of SFD® surveys. However, we may encounter
government restrictions in other countries that may impact or restrict our ability to conduct surveys.
If we encounter government regulation and restrictions that impact or prevent us from conducting
surveys in any country, then we will not be able to earn revenue in the country and we may be exposed
to forfeiting any performance bonds which may have been issued.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures ("DCP") and
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting ("ICFR")
NXT's Chief Executive Officer (the "CEO") and Chief Financial Officer (the "CFO"), together the
"Responsible Officers") are responsible for establishing and maintaining DCP, or causing them to be
designed under their supervision, for NXT to provide reasonable assurance that material information
relating to the Company is made known to the Responsible Officers by others within the organization,
particularly during the period in which the Company's quarterly and year-end consolidated financial
statements and MD&A are being prepared.
DCP and other procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports
that are filed is recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the relevant
security authority in either Canada or the United States of America. DCP include controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports is communicated to
management, including our Responsible Officers, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
The Company has established and maintains ICFR using the criteria that were set forth by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework
(2013). The control framework was designed or caused to be designed under the supervision of the CEO
and CFO to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US GAAP.
In an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's DCP as defined under the rules adopted by the
Canadian securities regulatory authorities and by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission,
the Company's Responsible Officers concluded that there are material weaknesses in the Company's ICFR
that have a direct impact on the Company's DCP:


Due to the limited number of staff, it is not feasible to achieve adequate segregation of incompatible
duties. NXT mitigates this deficiency by adding management and Audit Committee review
procedures over the areas where inadequate segregation of duties are of the greatest concern; and



NXT does not have a sufficient level of staff with specialized expertise to adequately conduct
separate preparation and a subsequent independent review of certain complex or highly
judgmental accounting issues. These complex areas have historically included accounting for
income taxes and equity related transactions. NXT mitigates this deficiency by preparing financial
statements with their best judgments and estimates of the complex accounting matters and relies
on reviews by management, external consultants and the Audit Committee for quality assurance.
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From time to time to reduce these risks and to supplement a small corporate finance function, the
Company engages various outside experts and advisors to assist with various accounting, controls and tax
issues in the normal course.
The small size of the Company's finance team has resulted in control deficiencies in maintaining DCP and
ICFR that in turn have led to a recurrence of previously identified deficient disclosure and the requirement
for refiling of certain disclosure documents. To address this issue and improve ICFR moving forward,
management has established a practice of increased engagement of the Company's Disclosure Committee
and Audit Committee in reviewing the public disclosure and has increased engagement of external
consultants and legal counsel as well.
NXT's efforts to mitigate the risks associated with the above-mentioned deficiencies has resulted in an
improvement in its DCP. The CEO and CFO concluded that, as at December 31, 2018, the Company's ICFR
have improved, but are still not effective and as a result its DCP are still not sufficiently effective. NXT
reached this conclusion based upon its assessment that there is a more than remote likelihood that its
ICFR will not prevent or detect material misstatements if they should exist in the Company's consolidated
financial statements. NXT continues a process of continuous improvement in financial reporting and
disclosure policies and responsibilities from which the Company expects to see benefits during 2019. The
Responsible Officers continue to take certain actions to remediate these material weaknesses including:
(i) the implementation of new controls with regards to the review procedures surrounding its disclosure;
and (ii) engagement of third-party specialists. In addition, even though the previous CFO left the
Corporation in November 2018 the Company continues to take actions to remediate these material
weaknesses. To ensure continuity of the Chief Financial Officer role the Corporate Controller is serving
the as the Interim CFO and subject matter consultants have been engaged to assist the Interim CFO as the
need arises.
The new controls over financial reporting and disclosure policies and responsibilities have been performed
over three quarterly periods and are being tested. Material weaknesses cannot be considered remediated
until the remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and Responsible Officers have concluded
through testing that these controls are operating effectively.
It should be noted that a control system, including the Company's DCP and ICFR procedures, no matter
how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the objectives of the
control system will be met, and it should not be expected that the DCP and ICFR will prevent all errors or
fraud.
Additional Information
Additional information related to the Company including the Company’s Annual Information Form is
available on NXT's website at www.nxtenergy.com and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors NXT Energy Solutions Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NXT Energy Solutions
Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated
statements of income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31,
2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
and the results of operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period
ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the
Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company’s current and forecasted cash position is not expected
to be sufficient to meet its obligations for the 12 months period beyond the date that these
financial statements have been issued. These conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 1, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that casts substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard
to these matters are also described in Note 1. These consolidated financial statements do
not included any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) (United States) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated
with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG
LLP.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit
of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006

Chartered Professional Accountants

Calgary, Canada
April 1, 2019

NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

December 31,

December 31,

2018

2017

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments (Note 3)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses

$

Long term assets
Deposits (Note 4)
Property and equipment (Note 5)
Intellectual property (Note 6)
$

339,532
3,900,000
61,279
65,159

$

166,618
950,000
60,027
107,363

4,365,970

1,284,008

560,341
683,157
19,654,800

518,765
778,685
21,339,533

25,264,268 $ 23,920,991

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 7)
Income taxes payable
Current portion of capital lease obligation (Note 8)

$

Long-term liabilities
Capital lease obligation (Note 8)
Other liabilities (Note 16)
Asset retirement obligation (Note 9)
Deferred charges (Note 16)

499,535
42,603

$

1,562,394
201
39,579

542,138

1,602,174

42,515
362,368
26,778
79,000
510,661

85,118
517,669
56,702
81,919
741,408

1,052,799

2,343,582

96,656,248
9,262,684
(82,418,397)
710,934

88,121,286
8,195,075
(75,449,886)
710,934

24,211,469

21,577,409

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Going concern (Note 1)
Shareholders' equity
Common shares (Note 10): - authorized unlimited
Issued: 68,573,558 (2017 - 58,161,133) common shares
Contributed capital
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income

$
Signed "George Liszicasz"
Director

25,264,268 $ 23,920,991

Signed "Bruce G. Wilcox"
Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the Year ended December 31
2018
Revenue
Survey revenue (Note 17)

$

Expenses
Survey costs, net (Note 18)
General and administrative expenses
Stock based compensation expense (Note 12)
Amortization expense (Notes 5 & 6)

Other expenses (income)
Interest (income) expense, net
Unrealized Foreign exchange loss
Intellectual property and other expenses
Gain on extingishment of liability (Note 20)

Loss before income taxes

2017

-

$

-

$

1,447,269

1,103,946
3,999,089
386,154
1,790,267

1,289,429
4,960,961
581,356
1,897,576

1,157,185
5,645,459
790,500
2,104,864

7,279,456

8,729,322

9,698,008

(62,004)
(19,852)
(43,428)
(185,661)

4,485
69,676
91,370
-

(17,254)
272,713
218,853
-

(310,945)

165,531

474,312

(6,968,511)

Income tax expense
Current

2016

(8,894,853)

(8,725,051)

-

75,545

374,511

-

75,545

374,511

Net loss and comprehensive loss

$ (6,968,511) $ (8,970,398) $

Net loss per share (Note 11)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.11) $
(0.11) $

(0.16) $
(0.16) $

(9,099,562)

(0.17)
(0.17)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the Year ended December 31
2018

2017

2016

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Comprehensive loss for the period
Items not affecting cash:
Stock based compensation expense (Note 12)
Amortization expense (Notes 5 & 6)
Settlement of payable with shares
Non-cash changes to asset retirement obligation
Asset retirement obligations paid
Valuation allowance of Bolivian Tax Credits
Foreign Exchange
Amortization of deferred gain on sale of aircraft (Note 16)
Deferred rent (Note 16)
Gain on settlement of liabilities (Note 20)
Change in non-cash working capital balances (Note 15)

$ (6,968,511) $ (8,970,398) $

(9,099,562)

386,154
1,790,267
(29,925)
(19,853)
(155,301)
(2,919)
(185,661)
(858,170)
924,592

581,356
1,897,576
95,181
2,283
(821)
207,682
(103,534)
(3,018)
829,014
3,505,719

790,500
2,104,864
4,000
(2,917)
(1,384,499)
1,511,948

(6,043,919)

(5,464,679)

(7,587,614)

Proceeds from exercise of stock options (Note 10)
Net Proceeds from Rights Offering (Note 10)
Cost of equity-based transaction with non-employee
Net Proceeds from Private Placement (Note 10)
Repayment of capital lease obligation (Note 8)

5,067
9,211,351
(39,579)

35,994
2,029,867
(6,149)
(36,769)

498,970
(34,159)

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

9,176,839

2,022,943

464,811

Proceeds/(use) from sale/purchase of equipment, net
(Increase) in Deposits (Note 4)
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Decrease (Increase) in short-term investments
Change in non-cash working capital balances (Note 15)

(10,006)
(2,950,000)
-

3,133,532
(518,765)
503,091
-

(89,702)
75,000
602,385
(60,187)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

(2,960,006)

3,117,858

527,496

Net cash used in operating activities
Financing activities

Investing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period

$

172,914
166,618

(323,878)
490,496

339,532 $

166,618

(6,595,307)
7,085,803
$

490,496

Supplemental information
Cash interest (received)
Cash taxes paid

(58,889)
-

4,487
72,587

16,057
1,634,360

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

For the Year ended December 31
2018

2017

2016

Common Shares
Balance at beginning of the period (Note 10)
Issuance of Common Stock on Private Placement (Note 10)
Rights Offering (Note 10)
Issued upon exercise of stock options (Note 10)
Transfer from contributed capital upon exercise of stock options (Note 10)
Equity-based transaction with non-employee (Note 10)
Finder's fee (Note 10)
Balance at end of the period

$ 88,121,286 $

85,966,393 $ 85,051,553

8,387,451
5,067
6,441
136,003

2,029,867
35,995
89,031
-

498,970
415,870
-

96,656,248

88,121,286

85,966,393

Contributed Capital
Balance at beginning of the period
Issuance of warrants on Private Placement (Note 10 and 21)
Recognition of stock based compensation expense
Contributed capital transferred to common shares
upon exercise of stock options

8,195,075
687,896
386,154
(6,441)

7,613,719
581,356
-

7,239,089
790,500
(415,869)

Balance at end of the period

9,262,684

8,195,075

7,613,720

Balance at beginning of the period
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period

(75,449,886)
(6,968,511)

(66,479,488)
(8,970,398)

(57,379,926)
(9,099,562)

Balance at end of the period

(82,418,397)
-

(75,449,886)

(66,479,488)

Deficit

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Balance at beginning and end of the period
Total Shareholders' Equity at end of the period

710,934
$ 24,211,469

710,934
$

710,935

21,577,409 $ 27,811,560

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

1. The Company and Future Operations (or Going Concern)
NXT Energy Solutions Inc. (the "Company" or "NXT") is a publicly traded company based in Calgary,
Canada.
NXT's proprietary Stress Field Detection ("SFD®") technology is an airborne survey system that is used in
the oil and natural gas exploration industry to identify subsurface trapped fluid accumulations. These
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern basis
of presentation assumes that NXT will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.
The events described in the following paragraphs highlight that there is substantial doubt about NXT’s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these financial statements have
been issued.
As a result of the extended duration between revenue bearing contracts, NXT’s balance of Current Assets
less Current Liabilities has been declining since the closing of the first tranche of the Private Placement on
February 2018. As a result, the Company’s current and forecasted cash position is not expected to be
sufficient to meet its obligations for the 12 month period beyond the date that these financial statements
have been issued.
While near term survey prospects are expected to translate into revenue bearing contacts and provide
positive contribution to the liquidity position, there are no certainties that several of these prospects will
convert into executed contracts prior to the full depletion of the Company’s cash resources. In February
2019, the Company signed a Co-operation agreement for which it will received a non-refundable deposit
of $200,000 United States Dollars in April 2019 and in March 2019 signed a contract for the approximate
revenue value of $8,900,000 United States dollars. Advance payments totaling $300,000 United States
Dollars have been received in the first quarter of 2019 on the contract and an additional $1,000,000
United States Dollars is contracted to be received in April 2019 upon performing of a 100-line km pilot
survey. The Company is also taken further steps to reduce costs which include evaluating alternatives to
reduce aircraft costs and office costs. In addition, the Advisory Board has been suspended indefinitely
and staffing costs are being reduced with new human resource policies. If required, further financing
options that may be available to the Company include issuance of new equity, debentures or bank credit
facilities. The need for any of these options will be dependent on the timing of securing further new
contracts and obtaining financing terms that are acceptable to both the Company and the financier.
NXT continues to develop its pipeline of opportunities to secure new revenue contracts. However, the
Company’s longer-term success remains dependent upon its ability to convert these opportunities into
successful contracts and to continue to attract new client projects and expand the revenue base to a level
sufficient to exceed fixed operating costs and generate positive cash flow from operations. The
occurrence and timing of these events cannot be predicted with certainty.
The consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going
concern basis was not appropriate. If the going concern basis was not appropriate for these consolidated
financial statements, then significant adjustments would be necessary in the classification and carrying
value of assets, liabilities and the reported revenues and expenses.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been prepared by
management in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles of the United States of America
("US GAAP").
Consolidation
These consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries (all of which are inactive). All significant inter-company balances and transactions among NXT
and its subsidiaries have been eliminated and are therefore not reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
Estimates and Judgements
Estimates made relate primarily to the use of the going concern assumption, estimated useful lives,
valuation of intellectual property, property and equipment, the measurement of stock-based
compensation expense, valuation of deferred income tax assets, and estimates for asset retirement
obligations. The estimates and assumptions used are based upon management's best estimate. Estimates
and assumptions are reviewed periodically and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period when
determined. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and short term GICs with an original maturity less than
90 days from the date of acquisition.
Short Term Investments
Short term investments consist of short term GICs, with original maturity dates greater than 90 days and
up to one year.
Revenue Recognition
In May 2014, the US Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new guidance on accounting
for “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which superseded the existing revenue recognition
requirements and most industry-specific guidance. This new guidance requires that an entity recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The Company applied the new standard effective January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
approach. As the Company has generated no revenue 2018 or 2017 the new standard had no significant
impact. As the Company enters into new contracts with customers, it will evaluate the recognition of
revenue under the new standard.
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

Revenue from the services is measured based on the consideration specified in contracts with customers,
net of sales taxes. NXT recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring
promised services to a customer. This is generally over time based on a daily basis.
Fair Value of Derivative Instruments
Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value with any changes in fair value
between periods recognized in the determination of net income (loss) for the period. NXT does not apply
hedge accounting to any of its derivatives. As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, NXT had no outstanding
derivative instruments.
Fair Value Measures
For any balance sheet items recorded at fair value on a recurring basis or non-recurring basis, the
Company is required to classify the fair value measure into one of three categories based on the fair value
hierarchy noted below.
In Level I, the fair value of assets and liabilities is determined by reference to quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to assess at the measurement
date.
In Level II, determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities is based on the extrapolation of inputs,
other than quoted prices included within Level I, for which all significant inputs are observable directly or
indirectly. Such inputs include published exchange rates, interest rates, yield curves and stock quotes from
external data service providers. Transfers between Level I and Level II would occur when there is a change
in market circumstances.
In Level III, the fair value of assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis is determined using a
market approach based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value
measurement. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value can fluctuate between Level II and Level III
depending on the proportion of the value of the contract that extends beyond the time frame for which
inputs are considered to be observable. As contracts near maturity and observable market data becomes
available, the contracts are transferred out of Level III and into Level II.
Deposits
Deposits consist of security payments made to lessors for the Company’s office and aircraft lease. They
are classified as long term if the lease end date is greater than one year.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization, which is recorded over the
estimated service lives of the assets using the following annual rates and methods:
Computer hardware (including survey equipment)
Aircraft

30% declining balance
10% declining balance
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NXT ENERGY SOLUTIONS INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

Furniture and other equipment
Leasehold improvements

20% declining balance
10% declining balance

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets, which includes property, equipment and intellectual property for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable. When indictors of impairment exist, the Company first compares the total of the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows or the estimated sale price to the carrying value of an asset. If the carrying
value exceeds these amounts, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess of the carrying value over
the estimated fair value of the asset.
Intellectual Property
Intellectual property acquired is recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization, which is recorded over
the estimated minimum useful life of the assets. Intellectual property is also subject to ongoing tests of
potential impairment of the recorded net book value.
Research and Development Expenditure
Research and Development ("R&D") expenditures incurred to develop, improve and test the SFD® survey
system and related components are expensed as incurred. Any intellectual property that is acquired for
the purpose of enhancing research and development projects, if there is no alternative use for the
intellectual property, is expensed in the period acquired. No significant external R&D was incurred in the
years ended 2016, 2017 and 2018.
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company's functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Revenues and expenses denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the average exchange rate for the applicable
period. Shareholders' equity accounts are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in
effect at the time of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars
at the exchange rate in effect at the end of the applicable period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are
recorded at the relevant exchange rates for the period in which the balances arose. Any related foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from these translations are included in the determination of net
income (loss) for the period.
Income Taxes
NXT follows the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. This method recognizes
deferred income tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences in reported amounts for
financial statement and income tax purposes, at the income tax rates expected to apply in the future
periods when the temporary differences are expected to be reversed or realized. The effect of a change
in income tax rates on deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is recognized in
income in the period when the tax rate change is enacted. Valuation allowances are provided when
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

Stock Based Compensation Expense
NXT follows the fair value method of accounting for stock options that are granted to acquire common
shares under NXT's stock option plan. Under this method, an estimate of the fair value of the cost of stock
options that are granted to employees, directors and consultants is calculated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model and charged to income over the future vesting period of the stock options, with a
corresponding increase recorded in contributed capital. Upon exercise of the stock options, the
consideration received by NXT, and the related amount which was previously recorded in contributed
capital, is recognized as an increase in the recorded value of the common shares of the Company.
Stock based compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees is periodically remeasured until the earlier of the completion of their service period or when the vesting period is
completed. Changes to the re-measured compensation are recognized in the period of change and
amortized over the remaining life of the vesting period in the same manner as the original stock option.
Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of
common shares that are outstanding for the fiscal period. Shares issued during the period are weighted
for the portion of the period that the shares were outstanding. Diluted income per share, in periods when
NXT has net income, is computed using the treasury stock method, whereby the weighted average
number of shares outstanding is increased to include any additional shares that would be issued from the
assumed exercise of stock options and common share purchase warrants. The incremental number of
shares added under the treasury stock method assumes that outstanding stock options and warrants that
are exercisable at exercise prices below the Company's average market price (i.e. they were “in-themoney”) for the applicable fiscal period are exercised and then that number of incremental shares is
reduced by the number of shares that could have been repurchased by the Company from the issuance
proceeds, using the average market price of the Company’s shares for the applicable fiscal period.
No addition to the basic number of shares is made when calculating the diluted number of shares if the
diluted per share amounts become anti-dilutive (such as occurs in the case where there is a net loss for
the period).
Future Accounting Policy Changes
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued new guidance on leases. The new guidance requires lessees
to recognize leases on the balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The
new standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset
and corresponding lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases longer than 12 months. Leases will be
classified as finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense
recognition in the income statement.
The Company will adopt the new standard on its effective date of January 1, 2019. NXT will apply modified
retrospective transition approach which it will apply to the new standard to all leases existing at the date
of initial application being January 1, 2019. Consequently, financial information for prior periods will not
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be restated and the disclosures required under the new standard will not be provided for dates and
periods before January 1, 2019.
The Company will elect the package of practical expedients which permits entities not to reassess prior
conclusions about lease identification, lease classification, and initial direct costs under the rules of the
new standard.
The Company believes that the most significant effects of adoption will relate to the recognition of the
new ROU assets and lease liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet for its operating leases and providing
significant new disclosures about the Company’s leasing activities. On adoption, the Company will
recognize ROU assets and related lease liability of approximately $3 million based on the present value of
the remaining minimum lease payments for existing operating leases.

3. Short-Term Investments
Short-term investments consist of Guaranteed Investment Certificates with maturity dates of one year
from the date of purchase. For December 31, 2018, interest rates range from 2.10% to 2.15%. For
December 31, 2017, the interest rate was 0.70%.
December 31,
2018
One year cashable GIC’s
________________________

For the period ended
December 31,
2017

$ 3,900,000
3,900,000

$ 950,000
950,000

4. Deposits
Security deposits have been made to the lessors of the office building and the aircraft.

Building
Aircraft

2018

2017

$ 43,310
517,031
560,341

$ 43,310
475,455
518,765
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5. Property and Equipment
Year ended December 31, 2018

Cost
Base

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Survey equipment
Computers and software
Furniture and other equipment
Leasehold improvements

$ 684,890
1,256,101
528,420
1,165,108

$628,037
1,201,047
504,328
617,950

$56,853
55,054
24,092
547,158

3,634,519

2,951,362

683,157

Year ended December 31, 2017

Cost
Base

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Survey equipment
Computers and software
Furniture and other equipment
Leasehold improvements

$ 684,890
1,246,095
528,420
1,165,108

$612,717
1,177,653
498,304
557,154

$72,174
68,442
30,115
607,953

3,624,513

2,845,828

778,685

6. Intellectual Property
During 2015, NXT acquired the permanent rights to the SFD® technology for use in the exploration of
hydrocarbons from Mr. George Liszicasz and recorded the acquisition as an intellectual property asset on
the balance sheet. The asset was recorded at the fair value of the consideration transferred, including
the related tax affect, of approximately $25.3 million.
The asset is being amortized on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life of 15 years. The annual
amortization expense expected to be recognized in each of the next five years is approximately $1.7
million per year for a 5 year aggregate total of $8.5 million.

Intellectual property acquired
Accumulated amortization

2018

2017

$ 25,271,000
(5,616,200)

$ 25,271,000
(3,931,467)

19,654,800

21,339,533
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7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2018

2017

$ 151,427
22,500
155,301
47,271
376,499
123,036

$ 353,333
175,000
155,301
551,110
1,234,744
327,650

499,535

1,562,394

2018

2017

$ 85,118
(42,603)

$ 124,697
(39,579)

42,515

85,118

Accrued liabilities related to:
Consultants and professional fees
Board of Directors' fees
Deferred gain on sale of the aircraft (current)
Payroll (vacation pay and wages payable)
Trade payables and other

8. Capital Lease Obligation

Capital lease obligation
Less current portion

The capital lease obligation is secured by specific leasehold improvements included in property and
equipment, bears interest at a rate of 7.4%, and is repayable as follows:
Year ended December 31:
2019
2020

$42,603
42,515
85,118

9. Asset Retirement Obligation
Asset retirement obligations ("ARO") relate to minor non-operated interests in oil and natural gas wells in
which NXT has outstanding abandonment and reclamation obligations in accordance with government
regulations. The estimated future abandonment liability is approximately $27,000 which is based on
estimates of the future timing and costs to abandon, remediate and reclaim the well sites within the next
five years. The net present value of the ARO is as noted below, and has been calculated using an inflation
rate of 2.0% and discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free interest rate of 2.5%.

ARO balance, beginning of the year
Accretion expense
Costs incurred
Change in ARO estimates
ARO balance, end of the year

2018

2017

2016

$ 56,702
2,069
(31,993)

$ 55,240
2,283
(821)
-

$ 51,240
4,000
-

26,778

56,702

55,240
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10. Common Shares
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares, of which the following are
issued and outstanding:
As at the Year Ended
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017

As at the beginning of the year

# of shares

$ amount

# of shares

$ amount

58,161,133

$88,121,286

53,856,509

$85,966,393

8,387,451
5,067
-

7,334
4,187,290
110,000

5,710
2,029,867
30,285
89,031

6,441
136,003

-

-

Shares issued during the year:
Issuance of Common Stock
on the Private Placement (see iii)
10,264,946
Exercise of stock options
6,667
Rights Offering, net of issue costs (see i)
Stock options proceeds receivable (see ii)
Shares for Debt (see ii)
Transfer from contributed capital on the
exercise of stock options (see ii)
Finder’s Fee
140,812
As at the end of the year

68,573,558

96,656,248

58,161,133

88,121,286

As at the Year Ended
December 31, 2016

As at the beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year:
Exercise of stock options
Stock options proceeds receivable
Transfer from contributed capital on the
exercise of stock options
Return to Treasury of
exercised stock options
As at the end of the year

# of shares

$ amount

53,306,109

$ 85,051,553

565,722
-

529,255
(30,285)

-

415,870

(15,322)
53,856,509

85,966,393

i) On November 3, 2017, NXT closed the Rights Offering that had been announced to existing shareholders
on September 26, 2017. The Company issued 4,187,290 common shares a price of $0.50 per common
share, for aggregate gross proceeds of $2,093,645. Share issue costs of $63,778 were recorded as a
reduction to share capital.
Approximately 53% of the Rights Offering, being 2,237,607 shares were issued in the basic subscription,
of which 680,856 shares were issued to insiders of the Company and 1,556,751 shares were issued to
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others. A total of 1,949,683 shares were applied for under the additional subscription provision, all of
which were issued to non-insiders representing 47% of the Rights Offering.
ii) During 2017, the Company settled certain accounts payable to a consultant totaling $78,980 by way of
issuing 110,000 common shares at a price per share of $0.718. The cost of issuing these shares of $6,149
were recorded as a reduction to share capital. Also, at December 31, 2016, a reduction of $16,200 in the
common share capital balance was made in respect of shares that had been repurchased by the Company
and held in trust. These shares were issued to the Consultant in lieu of fees that were incurred in 2017.
iii) In July 2018, the company completed the private placement. In total, the Subscriber purchased
10,264,946 Units at a price of $0.924 per Unit for total gross proceeds of approximately $9,484,810.
As a result of the Private Placement, a total of 10,264,946 common shares and a total of 3,421,648
warrants were issued to the Subscriber. The allocation of gross proceeds was $8,766,039 to the common
shares and $718,771 to the share purchase warrants, less share issuance costs of $407,429. The fair value
of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions: (i)
dividend yield of 0%, (ii) estimated volatility of 65%, (iii) risk-free interest rate of 1.68% based on the
Canada 1-Year Treasury Bill Yield and (iv) and expected life of 1 year. As of the date of these financial
statements the Company has received conditional approval from the TSX to extend the warrants to
February 16, 2020, subject to shareholder approval. See Note 21 for further details.
The Subscriber now holds approximately 20.0% of the Company's 68,573,558 outstanding common shares
including common shares issuable through the exercise of its warrants.
A finder’s fee of 3% of the total amount of the Private Placement, which was paid one half in shares and
one half in cash during the third quarter.

11. Net Loss per Share
2018
Comprehensive loss for the year

$(6,968,511)

2017

2016

$(8,970,398) $(9,099,562)

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding for the year:
Basic and diluted
65,455,325
54,523,113 53,526,155
_____________________________________________________________________________________
Net Income (loss) per share – Basic and diluted
$ (0.11)
$ (0.16)
$(0.17)
(i) In periods in which a loss results, all outstanding stock options are excluded from the diluted loss per
share calculations as their effect is anti-dilutive.
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12. Stock Options
The following is a summary of stock options which are outstanding as at December 31, 2018:
Exercise price
per share
$ 0.59
$ 1.35
$ 1.39
$ 1.45
$ 1.48
$ 1.50
$ 1.57
$ 1.61
$ 1.67
$ 1.73
$ 1.82
$ 2.10

# of options
outstanding

# of options
exercisable

Average remaining
contractual
life (in years)

150,000
236,900
22,500
37,500
37,500
50,000
30,000
25,000
150,000
92,600
165,000
300,000

50,000
236,900
22,500
37,500
37,500
50,000
30,000
25,000
150,000
92,600
165,000
300,000

4.8
1.0
0.5
3.0
2.5
2.6
1.1
0.1
0.9
1.9
1.8
1.7

1,297,000

1,197,000

1.9

A continuity of the number of stock options which are outstanding at the end of the current period and
as at the prior fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 is as follows:
For the year ended
December 31, 2018

For the year ended
December 31, 2017

weighted
# of stock
average
options exercise price

weighted
# of stock
average
options exercise price

Options outstanding, start of the period
Granted
Exercised
Expired
Forfeited

1,648,667
1,150,000
(6,667)
(65,000)
(1,430,000)

$ 1.60
$ 1.06
$ 0.76
$ 1.17
$ 1.18

3,221,001
(7,334)
(1,190,000)
(375,000)

$ 1.33
$ 0.76
$ 0.91
$ 1.48

Options outstanding, end of the period

1,297,000

$ 1.35

1,648,667

$ 1.60

Options exercisable, end of the period

1,197,000

$ 1.41

1,268,867

$ 1.59

Stock options granted generally expire, if unexercised, five years from the date granted and entitlement
to exercise them generally vests at a rate of one-third at the end of each of the first three years following
the date of grant.
Stock based compensation expense (“SBCE”) is calculated based on the fair value attributed to grants of
stock options using the Black-Scholes valuation model and utilizing the following weighted average
assumptions:
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Year ended December 31
Expected dividends paid per common share
Expected life in years
Expected volatility in the price of common shares
Risk free interest rate
Weighted average fair market value per share at grant date
Intrinsic (or "in-the-money") value per share of options exercised

2018

2017

2016

Nil
5.0
65 %
1.75 %
$ 0.59
$ 0.33

-

Nil
5.0
85 %
0.75 %
$ 0.99
$ 0.45

The unamortized portion of SBCE related to the non-vested portion of stock options, all of which will be
recognized in 2019 and 2020 is approximately $28,000.
13. Financial Instruments
1) Non-derivative financial instruments
The Company's non-derivative financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payables, accrued liabilities and capital leases. The carrying
value of these financial instruments approximates their fair values due to their short terms to maturity.
NXT is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments. NXT is
exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of periodically holding foreign denominated financial
instruments. Any unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses arising on such holdings are reflected in
earnings at the end of each period.
2) Derivative financial instruments
As at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company held no derivative financial instruments.
14. Income Tax Expense
NXT periodically earns revenues while operating outside of Canada in foreign jurisdictions. Payments
made to NXT for services rendered to clients and branch offices in certain countries may be subject to
foreign income and withholding taxes. Such taxes incurred are only recoverable in certain limited
circumstances, including potential utilization in Canada as a foreign tax credit, or against future taxable
earnings from the foreign jurisdictions.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, NXT recorded foreign income and withholding taxes of $0 (2017
- $75,545).
Income tax expense is different from the expected amount that would be computed by applying the
statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates to NXT's income (loss) before income taxes as
follows:
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2018
Net loss before income taxes
Canadian statutory income tax rate
Income tax (recovery) at statutory income tax rate

$(6,968,511)
27.0 %

2017

2016

$(8,894,853) $(8,725,051)
27.0 %
27.0 %

(1,881,509)

(2, 401,610)

(2,355,764)

Effect of non- deductible expenses and other items:
Stock-based compensation and other expenses
Change in statutory tax rates
Foreign exchange adjustments
Foreign tax credit benefit
Non-taxable portion of capital gain

99,919
(131,555)
-

156,966
962,486
110,121
(50,525)

223,463
112,581
(256,500)
-

Other

(221,978)

91,668

(271,676)

Change in valuation allowance
Income taxes in foreign jurisdictions
Income tax expense (recovery)

(2,135,122)
2,135,122
-

(1,130,894)
1,130,894
75,545

(2,547,896)
2,547,896
374,511

75,545

374,511

On December 22, 2017, The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted in the United States. This has
resulted in a decrease in the US Federal tax rate from 35% to 21%.
A valuation allowance has been provided for the potential financial statement value of the Company’s
deferred income tax assets, due to uncertainty regarding the amount and timing of their potential future
utilization, as follows:

Net operating losses carried forward:
Canada (expiration dates 2027 to 2039)
USA (expiration dates 2020 to 2026)
Timing differences on property & equipment
and financing costs
SRED Expenditures
Foreign Tax Credit
Intellectual property
Less valuation allowance

2018

2017

2016

$ 9,563,701
1,569,976

$ 8,180,209
1,443,729

$ 6,747,506
2, 575,389

2,109,557
396,020
371,133
14,010,387
(5,306,796)
8,703,591
(8,703,591)

2,012,709
215,303
371,133
12,223,083
(5,761,674)
6,461,409
(6,461,409)

1,789,311
215,303
371,133
11,059,946
(6, 216,552)
5,482,090
(5,482,090)

-

-

-
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15. Change in Non-Cash Working Capital
The changes in non-cash working capital balances are comprised of:
For the year ended December 31
2018
2017
2016
Accounts receivable
Work-in-progress
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred gain
Deferred revenue

Portion attributable to:
Operating activities
Financing activities
Investing activities

$ (1,252)
42,204
(898,922)
(201)
(858,170)

$ (61,657)
59,439
986,430
103
(155,301)
829,014

$ 604,448
404,840
93,595
(587,819)
(1,253,028)
(706,722)
(1,444,686)

(858,170)
(858,170)

829,014
829,014

(1,384,499)
(60,187)
(1,444,686)

16. Commitments and Contingencies
Aircraft and Office Premises Lease
NXT has an operating lease commitment on its Calgary office space for a 10 year term ending in 2025 at
an initial estimated minimum monthly lease payment of $48,243 (including operating costs).
The leaseback of NXT’s aircraft is an operating lease with a minimum term of 60 months and monthly
lease payments of approximately US$39,500. In April 2017, NXT completed a sale and leaseback
agreement of its aircraft with a Calgary based international aircraft services organization (the “Lessor”).
The terms of the agreement resulted in NXT selling its Cessna Citation aircraft that was purchased in 2015
for US$2,000,000 for the sum of US$2,300,000. NXT has leased the aircraft over an initial term of 60
months and retains all existing operating rights and obligations.
Net proceeds to NXT from the sale were approximately CAD$2,700,000, after payment of all commissions
and fees. The net book value of the asset of $2.4 million was derecognized and the resulting gain on
disposition of CAD$776,504 was deferred ($621,203 included in long term liabilities and $155,301
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities). The gain will be recognized as a reduction to the
Company’s lease expense over the 60 month term of the lease. The resulting leaseback transaction is an
operating lease. NXT has the option to extend the term of the lease by an additional two years. Should
NXT want to repurchase the aircraft at the end of the initial lease term, the purchase price is US$1.45
million.
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The estimated future minimum annual commitments for these leases are as follows as at December 31,
2018:
Fiscal year ending December 31

Office Premises

Aircraft

$578,914
581,892
590,823
590,823
590,823
2,933,275
1,033,941

$646,631
646,631
646,631
161,657
2,101,550
-

3,967,216

2,101,550

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter, 2024 through 2025

Deferred charges of $79,000 as at December 31, 2018 relates to the valuation of an initial free-rent period
received on this lease in 2015. This balance will be amortized as a reduction of general and administrative
expense over the remaining 7 year term of the lease commitment.
17. Geographic Information
NXT conducts all of its survey operations from its head office in Canada, and occasionally maintains
administrative offices in foreign locations if and when needed. NXT has no long-term assets outside of
Canada.
Revenues in 2016 were derived almost entirely from a single client.
Revenues were derived by geographic area as follows:
2018
South and Central America (Bolivia)
North America

$

-

$

2017

2016

-

$1,447,269
-

-

1,447,269
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18. Survey Expenses
Survey Expenses include the following:
2018
Aircraft Operations
Charter Hire Revenue Earned
Lease payments
Operating Expenses
Survey Projects

2017

2016

(698,211)
454,729
1,347,428
1,103,946
-

(470,982)
304,410
1, 084,432
917,860
371,569

(564,505)
1,185,359
620,854
536,331

1,103,946

1, 289,429

1,157,185

19. Other Related Party Transactions
One of the members of NXT’s Board of Directors is a partner in a law firm which provides legal advice to
NXT. Legal fees (including costs related to share issuance) incurred with this firm were as follows:
2018

2017

2016

$ 249,218

$ 172,199

$ 62,645

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities includes a total of $5,999 ($120,479 as at December 31, 2017)
payable to this law firm.
In addition, accounts payable and accrued liabilities includes $7,461 ($14,210 as at December 31, 2017)
related to re-imbursement of expenses owing a person who is an Officer of NXT.
20. Gain on Extinguishment of Liability
During the year NXT determined that liabilities it had recorded before 2005 were no longer payable. As
a result a gain of $185,661 has been recognized on the extinguishment of the liability. No cash was paid.
21. Subsequent Event
Co-operative Agreement and Warrant Extension
In February 2019, NXT entered into a Co-operative Agreement with one of its largest shareholders, Alberta
Green Ventures (“AGV”), to propose up to three SFD® surveys within two years. The Co-operative
Agreement is based on a cost plus formula and a gross overriding royalty interest in oil and gas production
arising on lands subject to the surveys.
Under the Agreement, NXT and AGV will consider at least two SFD® Surveys in North America and an
additional one internationally. The first SFD® Survey is to be completed by August 31, 2019 and the fees
payable by AGV are partially secured by a $200,000 United States Dollars non-refundable deposit payable
within two months of signing the agreement. AGV has committed to completing an exploration drilling
program on each of the lands subject to the SFD® surveys within two years of completion of the surveys.
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As part of the consideration for the agreement, NXT has agreed to seek approval for a 12-month extension
of the expiry date of certain common share purchase warrants held by AGV. The TSX has granted
conditional approval to the extension, subject to disinterested shareholder approval. NXT intends to table
a resolution for the approval of disinterested shareholders at the 2019 Annual Shareholder Meeting of
the NXT to ratify a twelve (12) month extension of AGV’s 3,421,648 warrants (“Warrants”) to February 16,
2020. If approved, each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire one Common Share at an exercise price of
$1.20 for an additional twelve months to February 16, 2020. The date of the Annual Shareholder Meeting
is to be set for a date in the second quarter of 2019. Until the extension is approved by shareholders at
the meeting, the warrants will not be exercisable by AGV. If the extension is not approved, then the
warrants will terminate.
Sales Representative Agreement and Contingent Private Placement
NXT has entered into a three year exclusive sales representative agreement with AGV, in nine jurisdictions
in the Middle East and Latin America. Contingent on achieving a $2,000,000 United States Dollars sales
quota in the first year of the sales representative agreement term, AGV will be granted an at-market
subscription right to purchase treasury shares of NXT in a dollar amount equal to 25% of the contracts
introduced by AGV to NXT in the first year of the Agreement, up to a maximum of $5,000,000 United
States Dollars, subject to approval from the TSX.
Sales Contract
NXT has signed a contract to provide up to 5,000-line kms of SFD® surveys for a value of approximately
$8,900,000 United States Dollars. Data acquisition operations for this contract are expected to commence
in early April 2019. The SFD® surveys are expected to be completed within four months. NXT’s
recommendations on the SFD® survey data for this project are planned to be delivered before the end of
the third quarter of 2019. A restricted deposit of $300,000 United States Dollars was received by NXT in
March 2019.
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